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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND KEY DATES

AR EHRERAMN

As at 1 April 2025

Directors
Luk Siu Man, Semon* (Chairperson)
Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander (Vice Chairman)
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
Lai Ka Fung, May**
Yeung Man Sun**
Chan Hon Piu**
Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Directors

Company Secretary
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Audit Committee
Yeung Man Sun (Chairman)
Lai Ka Fung, May

Chan Hon Piu

Remuneration Committee
Lai Ka Fung, May (Chairperson)

Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Yeung Man Sun

Nomination Committee
Chan Hon Piu (Chairman)

Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Lai Ka Fung, May

Corporate Governance Committee
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa (Chairperson)

Yeung Man Sun

Chan Hon Piu

A representative from company secretarial function

A representative from finance and accounts function

Executive Committee
Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander (Chairman)
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Auditor

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
35/F One Pacific Place

88 Queensway

Hong Kong

Investor Relations Contact
Luk Man Ching, Anna
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Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2R 21244 EEBRAE]
2 Annual Report 2024/20255%

202548 1H

EX

BENE” (/)

1 AE (5] Z /%)

SEEUE

REB

% 3 iR

BRERR
FHITES
BIFRTES

LFHE
HAE

HEEAE
15 i (2 /)
Y

e

0 B
RRE, (2 /2)
B

ep.

RREHE
B (2/5)
B

Ty

tEERRET
SH (2/5)

1875 i

LT
—EARRBWERSE
—ERBREHBERE

BTEAE
BIGE (2/5)
B

4]

E2g) - =MD GEtEmTT
HZE G 5TEM
gﬁﬁ’&ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%%ﬁ&%&ﬁﬂi
B S ERLE

A % — 3518

REEMRBEREN
EX

BI 1ir296@EmperorGroup.com




AR EHRERRHN

As at 1 April 2025

Website
https://www.Emp296.com

Stock Code
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 296

Registered Office
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
28th Floor, Emperor Group Centre

288 Hennessy Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Registrar (in Bermuda)

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

Registrar (in Hong Kong)
Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Principal Bankers

Bank of China Limited, Macau Branch

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited
Luso International Banking Limited

OCBC Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Key Dates

Annual Results Announcement 20 June 2025
Annual General Meeting 13 August 2025
- Latest Time to Lodge Transfers 7 August 2025

(before 4:30 p.m.)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREs R R

The board of directors (“Board” or “Director(s)”) of Emperor
Entertainment Hotel Limited (“Company”) presents the audited
consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2025 (“Year”).

RESULTS

Supported by the continued improvement of the tourism
sector, the Group’s total revenue increased by 6.0% to HK$837.0
million (2024: HKS789.3 million) during the Year. Revenue from
hotels and leasing apartments remained broadly stable at
HKS$331.4 million (2024: HKS330.1 million) while gaming revenue
increased by 10.1% to HKS$S505.6 million (2024: HKS$459.2 million).
Nevertheless, due to a fair value loss on investment properties
amounting to HKS371.7 million (2024: HKS$20.3 million), the
Group recorded a net loss of HK$248.1 million (2024: net profit
of HKS62.8 million) during the Year. Basic loss per share was
HKS0.16 (2024: basic earnings per share of HKS$0.05).

MARKET REVIEW

During the Year, the Hong Kong government continued striving
to organise and promote mega events in Hong Kong, such as
the Hong Kong Sevens, Art Basel Hong Kong and Hong Kong
Marathon, in order to position Hong Kong as “Asia’s Events
Capital”. In 2024, the number of visitor arrivals to Hong Kong
increased by 30.9%, from 34.0 million to 44.5 million, with a
27.2% increase in visitors from Mainland China - which remained
the largest source of visitors to Hong Kong. The government also
continued pushing ahead with various talent admission schemes,
and the continuous influx of talents from Mainland China has
contributed to the demand for local leasing apartments.

Regarding the Macau market, the Chinese government has
implemented favourable measures such as the increase in
duty-free allowance for Mainland China citizens returning from
Hong Kong and Macau, and adding Mainland China cities to
the Individual Visit Scheme, which have enhanced the number
of visitor arrivals to Macau, contributing to Macau’s economic
development and tourism industry. The Macau government’s
initiatives to provide more family-based activities, as well as
entertainment and cultural events, have also enabled it to attract
more tourists from around the world. In 2024, the number of
visitor arrivals to Macau increased by 23.8%, from 28.2 million to
34.9 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB R R

BUSINESS REVIEW % 40] ]

The Group currently engages in provision of hospitality and ZEBBRRBRHEERRERT  RE
entertainment services, which covers a number of hotels and WUTMUNEBRRMAZEBEEREEASE
leasing apartments in Hong Kong and Macau, as follows:

- The Emperor Hotel and several blocks of leasing — (R EBWNEEBSEEKRThe
apartments under “The Unit” in Hong Kong which include UnitlE T#IEHEEAE > &4 The
The Unit Morrison Hill, The Unit Happy Valley and The Unit Morrison Hill~The Unit Happy
Unit Soho, with the latter acquired during the Year ValleyBzThe Unit Soho» #&TyRZs
(“Acquisition”; for details, please see the “Financial and FEWE (TWIBEHE) ; FEH2H
Other Information” section below); and TXTHMEREMER—E) ; &

- Grand Emperor Hotel and Inn Hotel in Macau. —  URRFINESRGAE KR EHE

5 o
About The Emperor Hotel PRI EEEESBEE

The Emperor Hotel, a 29-storey hotel in Wan Chai, is the UREBFHNEERSHBHEES2E  AEE
Group’s signature project in Hong Kong. It offers 299 guest EBMEABMNEZFMIER > RB2OBERE
rooms together with leisure, dining and parking facilities, with Y 3RH M - B R AERNE  BIEEEE
a gross floor area of approximately 115,700 square feet. The #3115,700F 73R o 3 2 B8 S F & i & K
Emperor Hotel creates a comfortable experience, catering to the REHERFNEZTAR  SEFEHOATE
lifestyles of both leisure and business travellers. Golden Valley, a B BERIRE/IEXNERE B IT L E
restaurant offering Cantonese & Sichuan cuisine within the hotel, F&AKZE—ERIFo

had been rated as a Michelin 1-star restaurant.

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited # 24244H/EA RN
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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About The Unit Morrison Hill

Situated at the vibrant junction of Wan Chai and Causeway Bay,
The Unit Morrison Hill provides 18 leasing units for expats, MICE
visitors, business travellers and overseas professionals. With
state-of-the-art facilities and professional customer services, The
Unit Morrison Hill redefines the contemporary way of life.

Y

R TR -._

BAHThe Unit Morrison Hill

The Unit Morrison Hill4 3% 58 & (7 K th 58
EOEMTFNRAR  AIEALT BRI
E BERERBINEEZEATIRMISEME
BEEM - BRETENREREXETPRR
The Unit Morrison HillEFiEEZIRAREEH

I o

About The Unit Happy Valley

The Unit Happy Valley, a 21-storey, 68-unit leasing apartments
building located in Happy Valley, is a highly sought-after
residence given its ease of access to the central business district.
The area is vibrant, conveniently located near Hong Kong’s
commercial districts, and affords easy access to the shopping
districts in Causeway Bay, Hong Kong Jockey Club and Hong
Kong Stadium for international sports events, and Hong Kong
Sanatorium & Hospital for medical check-ups, helping to ensure
solid short-term leasing demand.

Bt The Unit Happy Valley
MR E#EThe Unit Happy ValleyA2 S
21 - RHBECSEEMMNEEAEKNIE AA
BB 12 20 PP P 22 @& T R 52 D o TE B AL A2
RtE MMEEEER  JBEEM > AR
RIREFREEYE FEEETREBKX
IX%EE;@E”%%%%wx&%E%%%%D

PRETERERE BB RAMNEHR
EE'E;R°
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About The Unit Soho

The Unit Soho is a 25-storey leasing apartments building with
69 units, located on Old Bailey Street, adjacent to the SOHO
area. It commenced operations in August 2024, and has been
well received by overseas students studying in Hong Kong
and expatriates with long-stay hospitality demand. It is near
the Central-Mid-Levels Escalator, with convenient access to
Hong Kong’s central business district as well as dining and
entertainment areas such as Lan Kwai Fong and Tai Kwun.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B2 The Unit Soho
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About Grand Emperor Hotel

Located on the Macau Peninsula, Grand Emperor Hotel is
a 26-storey hotel with a gross floor area of approximately
655,000 square feet and 311 guest rooms. It offers a wide range
of amenities including sauna and spa facilities, as well as 5
restaurants boasting fine cuisines from all around the world. In
addition, it offers gaming tables and slot machines. With strong
commitment to providing guests with unparalleled hospitality
experience, the Group delivers consistently top-quality services
that translate into high levels of customer satisfaction and
loyalty.

PR 2RSS
RERMLFEEZRNRMAFE > & —E1iE
=26 HEIE > B E ERA655,0008 75
R RAEIIEEE HigM R MELERN
BREZZERKER URSHERHHRE
WEBNER U HIEMBEERATF
W AEFIGHEETERELEGLLAAE
ARF5hess  WEHIRHKEERS  KKME
B TFNERMRERBHE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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About Inn Hotel

Located at the heart of Macau’s Taipa Island, Inn Hotel is a
17-storey hotel with a gross floor area of approximately 209,000
square feet and 286 guest rooms. Through extending business
coverage from the Macau Peninsula to Taipa, it enables the Group
to fully capture the potential of Macau’s hospitality market.

FA 5% Bt i 1S

Bt AE SR ORI F S0 B—EE
B1TREEE B EERL209,0008¢ 73
R>wB86MEF - BREREFESHLE
WRFAFSREAEXKT  EAEESUEE
BRI EE R ISE S -

Hotels and Leasing Apartments Revenue

Revenue from hotels and leasing apartments remained stable
at HKS$331.4 million (2024: HKS330.1 million) during the Year,
accounting for 39.6% (2024: 41.8%) of the Group’s total revenue.
This revenue comprised room revenue of HK$163.8 million (2024:
HK$166.2 million), food and beverage revenue of HKS$115.0
million (2024: HKS114.5 million), and rental income and other
revenue of HKS52.6 million (2024: HKS49.4 million).

Gaming Revenue

Due to the ongoing improvement in consumption sentiment
and entertainment demand during the Year, the Group’s gaming
revenue increased by 10.1% to HK$505.6 million (2024: HK$459.2
million), accounting for 60.4% (2024: 58.2%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2R 21244 EEBRAE]
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PROSPECTS

In January 2025, the Hong Kong government released the
Development Blueprint for Hong Kong’s Tourism Industry 2.0,
which aims to reinforce Hong Kong’s role as an international
tourism hub and a core zone for multi-destination tourism. In
March 2025, Kai Tak Sports Park, the largest sports venue in Hong
Kong, was officially opened. This is expected to boost sports
development and inject impetus into related industries such
as recreation, entertainment and tourism, as well as the mega-
event economy, thereby reinforcing Hong Kong’s position as
“Asia’s Events Capital”. In addition, the expected further influx of
talents given the latest round of Talent List updates covering 60
professions with local talent shortages, plus the increase in the
intake of Mainland China students at universities in Hong Kong,
will continue to stimulate demand for residential leasing in Hong
Kong. The Group is poised to benefit from the government’s
initiatives to boost the local economy.

In recent years, the Macau government has put tremendous
efforts into transforming the city from merely a casino hub into
a diversified tourist destination offering cultural, leisure and
entertainment experiences. Riding on its economic diversification
strategy and pivot towards the broader tourist market, the
number of visitor arrivals to Macau has witnessed a continued
increase since the recovery following the Covid pandemic. With
the new multiple-entry permits for Zhuhai and Henggin residents
implemented on 1 January 2025, Macau’s status as a major
destination for Greater Bay Area travellers will be reinforced. The
Macau Tourism Office expects that the number of visitor arrivals
will return to the pre-pandemic level during 2025. The Group
will closely monitor the market developments, and respond to
changes by promptly adjusting its business strategy in order to
seize market opportunities.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION
Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial

Resources

The Group continued to maintain a healthy financial position and
funded its operations and capital expenditure by cash generated
from its operations and deposits reserved at the banks. As at
31 March 2025, the Group’s bank balances and cash, short-term
bank deposits and pledged bank deposits were in aggregate of
HKS572.9 million (2024: HKS645.8 million) which were mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. During the Year, the Group
was not exposed to significant foreign exchange rates as most of
the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions were transacted at
and denominated in the functional currency of that region.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had total borrowings of HK$39.5
million (2024: HK$39.5 million), representing advances from non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries of the Company, which were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, unsecured and interest-free,
including HK$39.0 million be repayable at the discretion of non-
controlling interests and availability of a subsidiary’s surplus
fund, and the remaining HKS0.5 million be repayable by another
subsidiary after payment of all operating expenses and payables
including bank loans and third party loans which are due for
repayment together with the accrued interest. The Group’s
gearing ratio (calculated as net debt divided by total equity) was
zero (2024: zero) as at 31 March 2025.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2025, assets with carrying values of HK$583.2
million (2024: HK$600.1 million) were pledged to a bank as
security for a banking facility. In addition, the Group pledged (i)
a bank deposit of HK$32.1 million (2024: HK$30.8 million) to a
bank for obtaining a bank guarantee amounting to approximately
Macau Patacas (“MOP”) 30.9 million (equivalent to HKS$30.0
million) (2024: MOP30.9 million (equivalent to HK$30.0 million))
in favour of SUM Resorts, S.A. (“SIM”) for the Group’s fulfilment
of all its obligations of provision of services in the casino by the
Group to SJM as stipulated under the service agreement and the
addendum between the Group and SJM; and (ii) a bank deposit
of HKS0.3 million (2024: HKS$0.3 million) to another bank to
secure the use of ferry ticket equipment provided to the Group by
a third party.

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2R 21244 EEBRAE]
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Acquisition of The Unit Soho

On 19 July 2024, the Group completed the acquisition of The
Unit Soho with an agreed property value of HK$700.0 million by
both parties via the acquisition of the entire issued share capital
of Star Omen Limited (“Star Omen™) and its loan due to a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of Emperor International Holdings
Limited (“Emperor International”), a fellow subsidiary of the
Company. Through completion of the Acquisition, the Group
expanded its market presence by enriching its assets portfolio.
Details of the Acquisition were set out in the joint announcement
of the Company and Emperor International dated 24 May 2024
and the Company’s circular dated 3 July 2024.

Disposal of The Unit Davis

On 16 December 2024, the Group completed the disposal of The
Unit Davis to an independent third party with an agreed property
value of HKS275.0 million by both parties via the disposal of all
the issued share of Bausman Limited and all loans, interest and
all other sums owing by Bausman Limited and its subsidiary to
the Group (“Disposal”). Details of the Disposal were set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 31 October 2024 and
the Company’s circular dated 21 November 2024.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 9 June 2025, the Group received a notice from SJM in
relation to its decision not to continue the operation of the
gaming area located at Grand Emperor Hotel following the
expiry of the service agreements between the Group and SJM
(“Service Agreements”) on 31 December 2025. Details of the
discontinuation of operation of the gaming area and the Service
Agreements were set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 30 December 2022, 21 February 2023, 25 January 2024 and
9 June 2025.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group’s number of employees as at 31 March 2025 was 659
(2024: 630). Total staff costs including Directors’ remuneration
and the other staff costs for the Year were HKS$325.1 million
(2024: HKS296.2 million). Each employee’s remuneration was
determined in accordance with individual’s responsibilities,
competence and skills, experience and performance, as well
as market pay levels. Staff benefits include medical and life
insurance, retirement benefits and other competitive fringe
benefits.

To provide incentive or reward to the staff, the Company has
adopted a share option scheme, particulars of which is set out in
the section headed “Share Options Scheme” from pages 128 to
130 of this annual report.

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2R 21244 HEHRAE]
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Non-executive Director and Chairperson
LUK SIU MAN, SEMON, aged 69, a Non-executive Director of
the Company and the Chairperson of the Board. She joined the
Company in March 2000 and provides leadership for the Board.
Ms. Luk is also a non-executive director and the chairperson
of Emperor International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 163)
(“Emperor International”), being a listed company in Hong
Kong. She worked in the banking industry for almost 10 years. Ms.
Luk graduated from The University of Toronto with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Commerce.

Executive Director and Vice Chairman

YEUNG CHING LOONG, ALEXANDER, Jpr, aged 39, was appointed
as Executive Director of the Company and the Vice Chairman of
the Board in April 2025. He is also the Chairman of the Executive
Committee. Mr. Yeung is responsible for the management of
the overall business of the Group. He has years of experience
in property investment and development as well as hotel
operations and a wide range of management experience in
various businesses covering entertainment production and
investment, artiste management, film production, investment
and distribution, cinema development and operations, financial
and securities services, retailing of watch and jewellery, retailing
and wholesaling of furniture as well as media and publication.
He is currently a member of the 14th National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”)
and a member of the 14th Beijing Municipal Committee of the
CPPCC. Mr. Yeung holds numerous voluntary public service
positions, with a particular focus on youth development. He
serves as a committee member of All-China Youth Federation,
vice chairman of Beijing Youth Federation and chairman of
Hong Kong United Youth Exchange Foundation. Additionally,
he is @ member of Culture Commission, a member of Hong
Kong Arts Development Council, a board member of Hong Kong
Ocean Park Corporation, Senior Asst. Commissioner (Youth)
of Civil Aid Service of Hong Kong and non-official member of
Immigration Department User’s Committee. Mr. Yeung is also a
board member of Emperor Foundation, where he leads Emperor
Group in promoting charitable activities. He is also an executive
director and the chairman of the boards of Emperor Culture
Group Limited (Stock Code: 491) (“Emperor Culture”), Ulferts
International Limited (Stock Code: 1711) (“Ulferts”) and New
Media Lab Limited (Stock Code: 1284) (“New Media Lab”) and an
executive director and the vice chairman of the board of Emperor
International, all being listed members of Emperor Group. He is
the son of Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon, a Non-executive Director and
the Chairperson of the Company.
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EFRSREEBARZERE

Executive Director

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA, aged 62, the Executive Director
of the Company. She joined the Company in 1991 and has been
responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, business growth
and development as well as overseeing different functions within
the Group. Ms. Fan is also the Chairperson of the Corporate
Governance Committee, a member of the Executive Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company as well as a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. She has over 35 years of corporate management
experience in diversified businesses ranging from hotel and
hospitality, property investment and development, retailing
of watch and jewellery, financial and securities services,
wholesaling and retailing of furniture, cinema development
and operation to entertainment production and investment,
artiste management as well as media and publication. Ms.
Fan is currently a director of Emperor International, Emperor
Watch & Jewellery Limited (Stock Code: 887) (“Emperor W&J”),
Emperor Capital Group Limited (Stock Code: 717), Emperor
Culture, Ulferts and New Media Lab, all being listed members of
Emperor Group. She is a lawyer by profession in Hong Kong and
a qualified accountant, and holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration.

Independent Non-executive Directors

LAl KA FUNG, MAY, aged 59, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in August 2016. She is
the Chairperson of the Remuneration Committee as well as a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company. Ms. Lai is a Certified Public Accountant and has
been engaged in the audit field for more than 20 years. She is a
Principal Partner of May K.F. Lai & Co. and a Partner of H.H. Liu &
Co., Certified Public Accountants and S & S Professional Group
Limited. Ms. Lai is also an independent non-executive director of
Chinlink International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 997), SIM
Technology Group Limited (Stock Code: 2000) and Emperor W&J.
All are listed companies in Hong Kong. Ms. Lai is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and obtained
a Master’s Degree of Arts in International Accounting from City
University of Hong Kong.
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ESRSREEBARZERE

YEUNG MAN SUN (former name: Yeung Hiu Chong and
Yeung Yiu Chong), aged 45, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in August 2022. He is
the Chairman of the Audit Committee as well as a member of
the Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. He is currently a senior management
of a Hong Kong listed company and runs his own certified public
accountants firm. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8006).
He was previously an independent non-executive director of
Simplicity Holding Limited (Stock Code: 8367) from August
2021 to October 2023. All are listed companies in Hong Kong.
He has over 20 years of experience in auditing, taxation,
financial management and advisory services field for an
international accounting firm, several corporations and other
listed companies. Mr. Yeung holds a Bachelor’s Degree of
Business Administration (Honours) in Accountancy from City
University of Hong Kong and a Master’s Degree in Corporate
Governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is an
associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, The Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute as well as a member of the
Society of Registered Financial Planners.

CHAN HON PIU, aged 65, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in August 2024. He
is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a
member of the Audit Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. He was previously an independent
non-executive director of Emperor International, being a listed
company in Hong Kong, from August 2015 to August 2024.
Mr. Chan has been admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong since
1991 and is now a partner of a law firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan
graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Social Sciences. He also obtained the Certificate of
Education and a Master’s Degree in Laws from The University of
Hong Kong.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHRE

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 64 of this annual report.

No interim dividend (2024: Nil) was paid to the shareholders of
the Company (“Shareholder(s)”) during the Year.

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for
the Year (2024: HKS0.015 per share).

Business Review and Performance

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the Year, event after the
reporting period and an analysis of the likely future development
of the Group’s business are set out in the Management
Discussion and Analysis from pages 4 to 11 of this annual report.
Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group are set out in the Corporate Governance Report from
pages 29 to 57 and notes 31 and 32(b) to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report respectively.

In addition, an analysis of the Group’s performance during the
Year using financial key performance indicators is provided
in the Five-year Financial Summary on page 151. Discussion
on the Group’s environmental policies and performance, key
relationships with the Group’s key stakeholders as well as
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Company are set out in the 2024/2025
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company.

Five-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 151 of this
annual report.
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Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 67 of this annual report.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders, calculated in accordance with
the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, amounting
to HKS$981,734,000 (2024: HKS$969,900,000). In addition,
the Company’s share premium account in the amount of
HKS$436,765,000 (2024: HKS436,765,000) may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the

Company’s Listed Securities

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
of the Company, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

Equity-linked Agreements

Other than the share option scheme of the Company adopted on
19 September 2023 (“Share Option Scheme”) as stated below,
no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

Investment Properties

During the Year, the Group acquired an investment property
through an acquisition of subsidiaries and it attributed
HKS$700,000,000 in fair value to the Group at the date of
acquisition and subsequently incurred additional costs of
approximately HK$2,585,000 on the investment properties.
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As at 31 March 2025, the Group revalued all of its investment
properties on an open market value basis. The decrease in fair
value amounting to approximately HKS$371,670,000 has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of this annual report.

Details of changes in the investment properties of the Group are
set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

A summary of investment properties of the Group as at 31 March
2025 is set out on page 152 of this annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment
During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and
equipment at a cost of approximately HK$23,149,000.

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the Year, the aggregate amount of revenue attributable
to the Group’s five largest customers represented 67.0% (2024:
63.4%) of the Group’s total revenue. The largest customer
accounted for 60.4% (2024: 58.2%) of the Group’s total revenue
and is the operator of mass market hall and slot machine hall
who paid fee for the services rendered by the Group during the
Year.

During the Year, the aggregate amount of purchases and services
received attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
represented less than 30.0% of the Group’s total purchases and
services received.

None of the Directors, their close associates or the Shareholders
(who to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued shares) had a beneficial interest in the share
capital of any of the above major customers or suppliers of the
Group.
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Directors
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Non-executive Director:
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon (Chairperson)

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander (Vice Chairman)
(appointed on 1 April 2025)

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Mr. Wong Chi Fai (retired on 1 April 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May

Mr. Yeung Man Sun

Mr. Chan Hon Piu (appointed on 20 August 2024)

Ms. Kwan Shin Luen, Susanna (retired on 20 August 2024)

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management as
at the date of this annual report are set out from pages 12 to 14
of this annual report. Details of Directors’ remuneration are set
out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

In accordance with Bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws of the
Company, Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander (“Mr. Alex Yeung”),
who was appointed as Director on 1 April 2025 to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board, shall hold office until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Mr. Alex
Yeung offers himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to be held on 13 August 2025 (Wednesday)
(2025 AGM”).

In accordance with Bye-laws 84(1) and 84(2) of the Bye-laws
of the Company, Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May (“Ms. May Lai”) and Mr.
Yeung Man Sun (“Mr. Terence Yeung”) shall retire by rotation at
the 2025 AGM. Mr. Terence Yeung, being eligible, offers himself for
re-election while Ms. May Lai, who served as independent non-
executive director of the Company (“INED(s)”) for almost 9 years,
being eligible, does not offer herself for re-election at the 2025
AGM.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the
2025 AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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Management Contracts

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Group’s business were entered into or existed during
the Year.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has in force the permitted indemnity provisions which
are provided for in the Bye-laws of the Company and in the
directors and officers liability insurance maintained for the Group
in respect of potential liability and costs associated with legal
proceedings that may be brought against the Directors and the
directors of the Group respectively.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests

in Securities

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company (“Chief
Executives”) in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO”)) as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors adopted by the Company (“EEH
Securities Code”) were as follows:
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(a) Long position interests in the Company
Ordinary shares of the Company (“Shares”)

() REATNZHEHES
FREAZEER (TR11)

Interest of spouse
AC B =

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon
(“Ms. Semon Luk”)
pE 24+ (TERE))

Beneficial owner

BEmEAA

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
(“Ms. Vanessa Fan”)

EREr L (et
Note: These Shares were held by Emperor International Group Holdings
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Albert Yeung Holdings
Limited (“AY Holdings™) which was held by First Trust Services AG
(“First Trust Services”), being the trustee of a private discretionary
trust founded by Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert (“Dr. Yeung”) who was
deemed to have interests in the said Shares. By virtue of being the
spouse of Dr. Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk also had deemed interests in
the same Shares.
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(b) Long position interests in associated
corporations of the Company
Ordinary shares

(b)gzlsﬁﬁl*ﬂlﬁﬁiﬁz&?gﬁé

=274

Ms. Semon Luk Emperor International Interest of spouse
Eet HEER B
Emperor W&J -Ditto-
HEBRHE - E-
Emperor Culture -Ditto-
HEXEER - E-
Ulferts -Ditto-
Bt -fAL-
New Media Lab -Ditto-
HmELEE -fA k-
Ms. Vanessa Fan Emperor International Beneficial owner
Bt HEER EZEAA
Note:  Emperor International, Emperor W&J, Emperor Culture, Ulferts and

New Media Lab are companies with their shares listed on the Stock
Exchange. These shares were ultimately owned by the respective
private discretionary trusts which were also founded by Dr. Yeung.
By virtue of being the spouse of Dr. Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk had
deemed interests in the same shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the
Directors nor Chief Executives had any interests or short position
in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO).

Share Options

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report. No
option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

The number of options available for grant under the scheme
mandate limit and the service provider sublimit were 118,849,098
and 59,424,549 respectively at both the beginning and the end of
the Year.
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Arrangements to Purchase Shares or

Debentures

Other than the Share Option Scheme as stated above, at the end
of the Year and at no time during the Year was the Company,
any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or Chief
Executives or their spouses or children under 18 years of age
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Other Persons’ Interests in Shares and
Underlying Shares

So far as is known to any Directors or Chief Executives, as at
31 March 2025, the persons or corporations (other than the
Directors or Chief Executives) who had, or were deemed or taken
to have interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO (“DI Register”) were as follows:

Long position in the Shares

Capacity/

Name of Shareholders Nature of interests

BREEEHE 817 EHEEH

AY Holdings Interest in a controlled corporation

RN EEER REREGEEZ #E

First Trust Services Trustee of a private discretionary trust
MARBEEZZEA

Dr. Yeung Founder of a private discretionary trust

mBiEL FMARIEEFEZRIILA

Note: These Shares were the same Shares of which Ms. Semon Luk had

deemed interests as those set out under Section (a) of “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests in Securities” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors
or Chief Executives were not aware of any other person or
corporation (other than the Directors and Chief Executives) who
had, or were deemed or taken to have, any interests or short
positions in any Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the DI
Register.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
As at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors nor their respective
associates was interested in any business which was considered
to compete or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group as required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).
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Directors’ Material Interests in
Transactions, Arrangements or

Contracts and Connected Transactions
During the Year, the Group had the following connected
transactions with connected persons (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company and a Director had material interests,
directly or indirectly, in such transactions:

A. Continuing Connected Transactions - 2024
Master Leasing Agreement (“2024 MLA”)

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Nature:

23 March 2023
(i) The Company
(i) Emperor W&J

From 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2027

The 2024 MLA sets out the framework
of the terms governing all existing and
future tenancy/licensing transaction(s)
(“Tenancy Transaction(s)”) regarding
leasing of properties (including but not
limited to retail shops) to Emperor W&J
with aggregate tenancy annual caps
being set for each of the financial years
ended/ending 31 March 2025, 2026 and
2027.

Pursuant to the 2024 MLA, relevant
members of the Group and any
member(s) of Emperor W&J may from
time to time enter into any definitive
leasing agreement(s) in relation to any
Tenancy Transactions (“Definitive
Leasing Agreement(s)”). The terms of
each of Definitive Leasing Agreements
shall be on normal commercial terms
or on terms which are no less favorable
available to the Group than terms offered
by independent third parties. The terms
and rental shall be subject to arm’s
length negotiation and be determined
based on the condition of the properties
and with reference to the then prevailing
market rents on property(ies) comparable
in location, area and permitted use.
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Connected
relationship
and Directors’
interest:

Announcement:
Annual Cap:

Aggregate
amount:

As the Company and Emperor W&J
were both indirectly controlled by the
respective private discretionary trusts
founded by Dr. Yeung, Emperor W&J
was a deemed connected person of
the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. Ms. Semon Luk had
deemed interest in the transactions by
virtue of being an associate of the eligible
beneficiaries of the relevant private
discretionary trust controlling Emperor
W&J.

14 July 2023

HK$7,000,000

During the Year, the aggregate amount of
the Tenancy Transactions with Emperor

W&J or its relevant members was
HKS$3,779,000.

B. Continuing Connected Transactions -
Service Agreement (“Service Agreement”)
in relation to the operation of Grand
Emperor Hotel

Date:

Parties and
connected
relationship:

Term:

24

30 December 2022 and 26 April 2023 (for
an addendum)

(i) Tin Hou Limited (“Tin Hou”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company

(i) SJM, a company incorporated
in Macau, which was principally
engaged in gaming business in
Macau and was one of the six
concessionaires/sub-concessionaires
licensed to carry on casino operations
in Macau. SJM had 19.99% equity
interest in Luck United Holdings
Limited, an indirect non wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company,
and was a connected person of
the Company by virtue of being
a substantial shareholder of a
subsidiary of the Company

From 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2025
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Nature:

Announcements:

Annual Cap:

Receipt:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The provision of services including
management services and promotion
services by Tin Hou to SJM in relation to
the operation of Grand Emperor Hotel
whereas Tin Hou shall be entitled to
percentage sharing of the gross gaming
revenue in respect of the monthly
operating performance of the gaming
area of Grand Emperor Hotel and bear
all necessary operational expenses in
relation to the operation of the gaming
area.

30 December 2022, 21 February 2023 and
25 January 2024

HK$1,000,000,000
During the Year, the Group’s receipt

amount under the Service Agreement was
HK$505,616,000.

Very Substantial Acquisition and Connected

Transaction -

Sale and Purchase Agreement

in relation to the acquisition of entire equity
interest in Star Omen

Date:
Parties and

connected
relationship:

Nature:

24 May 2024

(i) Emperor Property Development
Limited (“EPDL”), a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of Emperor
International

(i) Poly Keen International Limited
(“Poly Keen”), an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

Poly Keen entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with EPDL in relation
to the purchase and sale of (a) the entire
equity interest of Star Omen, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Emperor
International which indirectly holds a
property at Nos. 20-26 Old Bailey Street
& No. 11 Chancery Lane, Central, Hong
Kong and (b) the shareholder’s loan due
by Star Omen to EPDL at a consideration
of HK$665,170,000.
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Connected As the Company was indirectly owned
relationship as to approximately 71.63% by Emperor
and Directors’ International, the then substantial
interest: shareholder of the Company on the date

of the transaction, Emperor International
was a deemed connected person of
the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. Ms. Semon Luk had
deemed interest in the transaction by
virtue of being an associate of the eligible
beneficiaries of the relevant private
discretionary trust controlling Emperor
International.

Announcement: 24 May 2024

Circular: 3 July 2024

Independent 18 July 2024
Shareholders’
approval:

Completion: 19 July 2024

Compliance with Disclosure Requirements
Save for “Rental income from a related company” (under the
2024 MLA) in the amount of HK$3,779,000 for the Year as shown
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report which constituted a continuing connected transaction
(“CCT(s)”) of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, all other transactions as shown in that note are connected
transactions exempted from announcement, reporting, annual
review, and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the above non-
exempt connected transactions.

Independent Auditor’s Letter on
Non-exempt CCTs

The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report
on the non-exempt CCTs of the Group in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” (“Auditor’s
Letter”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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The independent auditor issued an unqualified conclusion in
respect of the non-exempt CCTs of the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Confirmation of Independent
Non-executive Directors on Non-exempt
CCTs

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs reviewed
the non-exempt CCTs and the Auditor’s Letter and confirmed
that these transactions had been entered into by the Group:

(1) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2) on normal or better commercial terms (as the case may be);
and

(3) according to the respective agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, there was no transaction, arrangement
or contract which was significant in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or
at any time during the Year.

Emolument Policy

The emoluments of the Directors shall be decided by the Board
as recommended by the Remuneration Committee having regard
to a written remuneration policy (which ensures a clear link to
business strategy and a close alignment with the Shareholders’
interest and current market best practice). Remuneration
should be paid with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives, the salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the executive and
non-executive Directors, internal equity of employment
conditions across the Group and applicability of performance-
based remuneration. The Directors’ fees are paid in line with
market practice. No individual should determine his or her own
remuneration.
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Employees’ remuneration was determined in accordance with
individual’s responsibility, competence and skills, experience
and performance as well as market pay level. Remuneration
package includes, as the case may be, basic salaries, Directors’
fees, housing allowances, contribution to pension schemes,
discretionary bonus relating to the financial performance of
the Group and individual performance, ad-hoc rewards, share
options and other competitive fringe benefits such as medical
and life insurances. Details of the emoluments of the Directors
and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

Events after Reporting Period

Details of significant events which took place subsequent to
the reporting period are set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this annual report, there was sufficient
public float of at least 25% of the issued Shares as required under
the Listing Rules.

Independent Auditor

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and a resolution for
its re-appointment as independent auditor of the Company will
be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Luk Siu Man, Semon
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 20 June 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXELNRS

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance for the Company so as to ensure
“Accountability, Responsibility and Transparency” towards the
Shareholders, investors, employees as well as other stakeholders
of the Company.

The Directors have adopted various policies to ensure
compliance with the code provisions of Corporate Governance
Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules so as to having effective application of the principles of
good corporate governance. During the Year, the Company fully
complied with all code provisions of the CG Code.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company is committed to cultivating a corporate culture,
focusing on four pillars, namely customer centricity, excellence
in services, people first and positivity, which is underpinned by
its purpose and values that enable employees at all levels of
the Group to thrive and meet their full potentials by acting in a
lawful, ethical and responsible manner that allows the Company
to deliver sustainable long-term performance and operate in a
way that benefits society and the environment.

The Company’s purpose and values serve as a guide for
employees’ conduct and behaviours, ensuring that they are
integrated throughout the Company’s operational practices,
workplace policies and practices and stakeholder relationships:

N
\§/

Purpose

e REEER
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BT R AV IR 510 & » SR TN M otivation
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The management is responsible for setting the tone and shaping
the corporate culture of the Company, as well as defining the
purpose, values and strategic direction of the Group, which are
under review by the Board. Taking into account the corporate
culture is reflected in various contexts, such as workforce
engagement, employee retention and training, legal and
regulatory compliance, staff safety, wellbeing and support, the
culture, purpose, values and strategy of the Group are aligned
with one another.

THE BOARD

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible for the
leadership, control and promotion of the success of the Group in
the interests of the Shareholders by directing and supervising its
affairs and by formulating strategic directions and monitoring the
financial and management performance of the Group.

Board Composition and Diversity

The Board currently comprises six Directors, with one
Non-executive Director who is also the Chairperson of the Board,
two Executive Directors and three INEDs. Names and biographical
details of the members of the Board are set out on pages 12 to 14
of this annual report under “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” section. All of them possess the skills, experience
and expertise either in the same industry or relevant to the
management of the business of the Group.

To ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board, the following mechanisms were established:

« sufficient number of INEDs in a total of three, representing
more than one-third of the Board;

e no INED has served the Board for more than 9 years;

e separation of the role of the Chairperson and the Chief
Executive Officer ensures that there is a balance of power
and authority; and

¢ annual meeting between the Chairperson and all INEDs
without presence of other Directors provides an effective
platform for the Chairperson to listen to independent views
on various issues concerning the Group.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the implementation of these
mechanisms and determined that they remain effective.
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The Company also adopted the Board Diversity Policy setting out
the approach to achieve a diverse Board with a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives to the business nature
of the Company. In designing the Board’s composition, Board
diversity has been considered from a wide range of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service, and any other factors that the Board may
consider relevant and applicable from time to time. The merits
and contribution that will bring to the Board for any Director
proposed for re-election or any candidate nominated to be
Director will also be assessed, taking into account the Company’s
corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity needed in the future.

The current Board composition reflects a diverse mix of
educational background, professional knowledge, industry
experience and length of service. The diversity mix of the Board
as at 31 March 2025 is summarized as follows:

(i) Board Composition, Gender Distribution, Age

Distribution and Length of Service

Number of Directors

EEAH
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(i) EETHR EFR /- FRFHR
BEEE

Gender

3l

Designation
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(ii) Directors’ Skills and Experience

Areas of Experience

Related Industry Knowledge/Experience
MERAITEME, KR

Business Management

EHEE

Legal/Regulatory

EREE

Financial & Accounting

B 5 B g 5t

Strategic Planning & Risk Management
RERFR 8 B f B 1R

The Board’s gender diversity level was relatively high
compared to other companies listed on the Stock Exchange,
with three female directors out of six (50%). During the Year,
the Nomination Committee and the Board reviewed the
gender diversity target of having no less than 25% female
directors on the Board and considered that the current
gender diversity of the Board was appropriate, balanced and
exceeding the target set. Therefore, no timeline or plan was
proposed for further enhancing the gender diversity of the
Board for the time being. The Nomination Committee will
continue reviewing the composition of the Board to maintain
diversity.

As at 31 March 2025, our total workforce comprised of
44% female and 56% male, whereas senior management
comprised of 50% female and 50% male. The current gender
diversity of workforce was appropriate taking into account
the business models and operational needs.

The term of appointment of the INEDs is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election provisions under the
Bye-laws of the Company and the Listing Rules. Based on
the annual review conducted by the Nomination Committee,
the Board considered each of them to be independent with
reference to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

Board Process

Other than regular Board meetings held during the Year,
additional Board meetings, or meetings of Board committees
established by the Board to consider specific matters, were
convened, when necessary.
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FEEEFHFEERIBERAIIWT ¢

The attendance of the Directors at the meetings during the Year is
set out below:

Non-executive Director FHTER

Ms. Semon Luk Bt 6/6(C) N/A R &R N/A R &R N/A R ER N/A R ER N/A R ER 22
Executive Directors HiTEs

Ms. Vanessa Fan (Note J) BRt (M) /6 N/ARiER i i 1/1(0) 10/10(C) b))
Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Note 1) BEBRE W) 6/6 N/A R ER N/ARER N/ARER N/ARER 10/10(C) 0N
Independent Non-executive Directors B EH{TES

Ms. May Lai w4t 66 0 (0 I NAREE  NATER 0
Hr. Terence Yeung BRREE 6/6 22(0) i N/ARER 111 N/ARER 22
Mr. Chan Hon Piu (Vote J) REELE i) 44 11 NATER  NATER(C) N/A FiER N/A FiER N/A FiER
Ms. Kwan Shin Luen, Susanna (lote 3} EEE %L (H:23) 0N 11 NAFER 11(0) 11 NAFER 1
Total number of meetings) held BEHZEY 6 2 1 1 1 10 )

C: Chairperson/Chairman of the Board/Committee C.EEg LETIRE

Mzt -

Notes:

BUITEEZEAATEETEIFERFMNESR
EME MIRERESESE ((REE)) - 852024

1. Ms. Vanessa Fan was appointed as the Chairperson of the Executive 1.
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee in place of

Mr. Wong Chi Fai (“Mr. Bryan Wong”) with effect from 20 August 2024. Mr.
Bryan Wong remained as a member of the Executive Committee until 31
March 2025. Ms. Vanessa Fan was redesignated from the Chairperson to a
member of the Executive Committee with effect from 1 April 2025.

Mr. Chan Hon Piu (“Mr. Chan™) was elected as Director at the 2024 annual
general meeting of the Company (“2024 AGM”) and was appointed as the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a member of the Audit
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee on the same day.

Ms. Kwan Shin Luen, Susanna (“Ms. Susanna Kwan”) retired as Director
at the 2024 AGM and automatically ceased to act as the Chairperson of the
Nomination Committee as well as a member of the Audit Committee and
the Corporate Governance Committee on the same day.

During the Year, the Chairperson held a meeting with INEDs
without the presence of Executive Directors in compliance with
code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 221344 HEHRAE)
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The Company received biannual confirmation from each Director
that he/she has given sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Company during the Year. Directors also disclosed to
the Company the changes, if any, in the number and nature
of offices they held in public companies or organisations and
other significant commitment, including the identity of the
public companies or organisations and an indication of the time
involved.

Ms. Semon Luk acted as the Chairperson of the Board who
provided leadership to the Board. During the Year, the day-to-
day management of the Group was delegated by the Board to the
Executive Directors, Ms. Vanessa Fan and Mr. Bryan Wong who
were responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, business
growth and development. The segregation of duties made the
Board and the operation of the Group function effectively.

The Chairperson sets the agenda for the Board and ensures
that members of the Board receive accurate, timely and clear
information, and that matters to be taken into consideration are
given their due weight, so that sound decisions can be made.
With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the Chairperson
ensures that the Board properly exercises its powers, holds
its meetings and implements procedures in compliance with
all rules and requirements, and full and proper records are
maintained.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than
a written resolution. That Director will abstain from voting on the
relevant Board resolution and he/she shall not be counted in the
quorum present at such Board meeting.

Procedures are also put in place for each Director to have
access to supporting papers and relevant information for
each scheduled meeting. All Directors also have access to the
services of the Company Secretary and her team, and may take
independent professional advice upon request, at the Company’s
expense.
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Induction and Training for Directors

Newly appointed Directors will receive a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on appointment. Besides,
the Company provides Directors with regular updates on
changes to and developments of the Group’s business, and
on the latest developments in the laws, rules and regulations
relating to Directors’ duties and responsibilities to help them
make informed decisions and discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors.

During the Year, each Director participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars/workshops/
reading materials on the following topics to develop and refresh
his/her knowledge and skills and provided a record of training to
the Company:

Name of Directors

EENR
Ms. Semon Luk

Bt

Ms. Vanessa Fan

SBRTE

Mr. Bryan Wong
=E

Ms. May Lai
R+

Mr. Terence Yeung

WA iRAE

Mr. Chan (appointed on 20 August 2024)
BRITE (5202458820 &)

Ms. Susanna Kwan (retired on 20 August 2024)
R+ (72202458820 EE)

ERHMERNRESEIN

BRMETERERER ﬁT%éE\E
ARFAEMRBBMIER - L5 > EAF
MAEEEZNEHRER URERES
BB RBEN AR RAUKEFNRHER
EHREEFRERMER  UHBREFFL
MBERERBTHEAZEENRBAME -

REFER ’§%$i’38$fﬁihﬁa%¥§*
B EAHEAMUTEEZERE H
HE REME LX%%E&E%?E%D&&B‘Z
A B mA QTR MEEICE

Topics on training covered

FRiBEZ g8 =8

(1) Corporate Governance
TEER

(2) Regulatory

BE

(3) Finance

B %5

(4) Industry Specific
TR
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate
effective management, certain functions of the Board have
been delegated by the Board to the Executive Committee, Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee.

1.

Executive Committee

During the Year, the Executive Committee consisted of all
Executive Directors, namely Ms. Vanessa Fan (Chairperson of
the Committee) and Mr. Bryan Wong. It had all powers and
authorities of the Board except the following major matters
as set out in a “Formal Schedule on matters reserved for and
delegated by the Board™:

vi.

Vii.

36

determining the Group’s objectives and strategies;

approving annual and interim results and financial
reporting;

declaring or recommending payment of dividends or
other distributions;

approving major changes that require notification by
announcement under the Listing Rules;

approving publication of announcements for notifiable
transactions under the Listing Rules;

approving non-exempt connected transactions/non-
exempt CCTs (other than those transactions took place
from time to time under the master agreement(s)
previously approved by the Board/Shareholders (as the
case may be)) under the Listing Rules; and

approving major capital restructuring and issue of new
securities of the Company.
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To advise and assist the Executive Committee on the
formulation and implementation of the environment,
social and governance (“ESG”) initiatives of the Group,
a sub-committee under the Executive Committee known
as the ESG Committee was set up. The ESG Committee
consists of representatives from operation and supporting
departments and the Executive Committee. It has the powers
and authorities as delegated by the Executive Committee
to formulate and execute relevant ESG action plan, and
assess and make recommendations on matters concerning
the Group’s sustainability development and ESG risks and
opportunities.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Mr.
Terence Yeung (Chairman of the Committee), Ms. May Lai and
Mr. Chan.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are set
out in its terms of reference which include duties specified
in the CG Code and are posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

A summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee
during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed with the management/finance personnel and/
or the independent auditor the effectiveness of audit
process and the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, and the accuracy and fairness
of the annual consolidated financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 March 2024 (“Previous Year”)
and the condensed consolidated interim financial
statements for the six months ended 30 September
2024:

ii. reviewed with the senior management and finance
personnel the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the Previous
Year;

iii. performed an annual review of the non-exempt CCTs of
the Group for the Previous Year;

iv. recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
independent auditor at the 2024 AGM;
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v. reviewed the audit fees and the fees for non-audit
services payable to the independent auditor;

vi. reviewed the independence of the independent auditor
and approved its engagement;

vii. approved the audit plan for the Year; and

viii. reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Ms. May Lai (Chairperson of the Committee) and
Mr. Terence Yeung, both being INEDs, and Ms. Vanessa Fan,
being an Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration
Committee are set out in its terms of reference which include
duties specified in the CG Code and are posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the Directors’ fees and made recommendation
to the Board; and

ii. reviewed the current remuneration structure/package
of the Executive Directors and senior management
and recommended the Board to approve their specific
packages.

Before making recommendation to the Board, the
Remuneration Committee has reviewed and assessed the
remuneration package of the Directors with reference to the
Group’s operating results, duties and level of responsibility
of the Directors and the prevailing market conditions. Details
of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the Year are
set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report.
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4, Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chan (Chairman of the Committee) and Ms.
May Lai, both being INEDs, and Ms. Vanessa Fan, being an
Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
are set out in its terms of reference which include duties
specified in the CG Code and are posted on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for formulating
policy and making recommendations to the Board on
nomination, appointment and re-appointment of Directors,
and Board succession pursuant to the Nomination Policy
adopted by the Company.

The Nomination Policy aims at assisting the Nomination
Committee in identifying and nominating suitable
candidates for directorship based on the Board Diversity
Policy and sets out the nomination criteria and the
nomination procedures for (i) nominating new Director to fill
a casual vacancy on the Board; (ii) making recommendation
to Directors and Shareholders regarding any Director
proposed for election or re-election at general meeting; and
(iii) nomination by Shareholders on election of new Director.

The Nomination Committee may identify potential
candidates from any source as it may consider appropriate
and evaluate them by considering various factors, including
their professional expertise, industry and business
experience, time commitments, potential contributions to
board diversity, material conflict of interest with the Group (if
any) and independence (for INEDs). The Committee will then
make recommendation of suitable candidates to the Board
for consideration of appointment. In case of reappointment
of existing Directors who will retire at an annual general
meeting (“AGM”), the Committee will review the retirement
of Directors and make recommendations to the Board
accordingly.
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A summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board;

ii. reviewed the Board Diversity Policy;

iii. reviewed the mechanisms implemented regarding
independent views available to the Board;

iv. reviewed the independence of INEDs;

v. reviewed Directors’ time commitment in performing
their duties as Directors;

vi. made recommendation to the Board on the re-election
of Director and nomination of new Director at the 2024
AGM; and

vii. reviewed the gender diversity target at Board level.

5. Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee (“CG Committee”)
consists of five members, namely Ms. Vanessa Fan
(Chairperson of the Committee), being an Executive Director,
Mr. Terence Yeung and Mr. Chan, both being INEDs, a
representative from company secretarial function and a
representative from finance and accounts function.

The specific written terms of reference of the CG Committee
is available on the Company’s website. The primary duties
of the CG Committee are (i) developing and reviewing the
policies and practices on corporate governance of the
Company (“CG Policy”) and making recommendations to
the Board; (ii) reviewing and monitoring the policies and
practices of the Company on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; (iii) developing, reviewing and
monitoring the codes of conduct applicable to Directors
and relevant employees of the Group regarding dealings
in the Company’s securities; (iv) reviewing and monitoring
the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; and (v) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
this annual report.
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A summary of the work performed by the CG Committee
during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the CG Policy;

ii. reviewed the policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;

iii. reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

iv. reviewed the codes of conduct applicable to Directors
and relevant employees of the Group; and

v. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in Corporate Governance Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the Company Secretary, being an employee of
the Company, duly complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
by taking no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the EEH Securities Code as its own
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors
on no less exacting terms than the required standard as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules regarding the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, all of them confirmed that
they had complied with the required standard of dealings as set
out in the EEH Securities Code throughout the Year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to prepare
the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group and
other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules.
The management has provided all members of the Board with
monthly updates on internal consolidated financial statements
which give a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group’s performance, position and prospects.

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2R 21244 HEHRAE]

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERZEENEAEEANMETZ
TEBZE&HIIMT :

i WEEERERRER,

i. BRNETEARREERESTEZ
BERRER

i. BNEERSREEAEZEFI
RIFEEXEERE

iv. BNEERAEEEREEZE
BIiTATR; &

v. BEASATETEERERTANZ
BRRNREXERARETAZKE-

QEHE

REFEER RBWE (BEAEES) B
AEFEHRWEIMRZEE  BFRFD
P15y B AE R B 2 5

ERZEFXS
ARBEERMREBRAELBEESTRIES
HEJZERMESETESXBZTAT
Al BAFRAER EH R ERCIFmE 2
EHBETAEFTETRESRSNRESTA
NEERE-KRNEEEFFHBEEESN
B 2REFHID RENTFEERNTIEE
THERLAEZES TR ZEEES
ZER o

5 R i 8

MEER
EFNARSEERULEHZFERS
MEmERk EHRAFAEE Z B M H R
BEFR-EEECSANESFE2RMER
HERZAMPEEMBRE  BILRHAE
Bz xR -RRARASNFERZNRERZ
affdio

Annual Report 2024/2025 ££%§

41



—

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EERERRS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
Year, the Board adopted appropriate accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that
were prudent and reasonable and ensured the consolidated
financial statements were prepared on a “going concern” basis
(with supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary)
and showed a true view of the state of affairs of the Group for
the Year. The management provided sufficient explanation
and information to the Board on the consolidated financial
statements to enable it to make an informed assessment of the
financial and other information put before it for approval. The
independent auditor of the Company made a statement about
their reporting responsibilities in the Independent Auditor’s
Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

A. Goals and Objectives

Internal control is fundamental to the successful operation
and day-to-day running of a business and it assists a
company in achieving its business objectives. Internal
control policies and procedures within the Group are
updated regularly with the primary objective of providing
general guidance and recommendations on a basic
framework of risk management and internal control systems
(“Risk Control Systems”).

A review was conducted on (i) the Group’s internal control
measures and procedures covering material controls,
including governance, operational, financial and compliance
controls; and (ii) risk management functions in the principal
subsidiaries of the Company for the Year as follows.

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective Risk
Control Systems. The Risk Control Systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss.
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The key objectives of the Risk Control Systems include:

safeguarding assets and the interests of the Shareholders;

ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of
financial records and reports;

promoting adherence to policies, procedures, regulations
and laws; and

promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations.

Internal Control
(1) Governance Controls

The control structure of the Risk Control Systems is set
out as follows:

The Board
e responsible for the overall Risk Control Systems and
reviewing their effectiveness;

« oversee the Risk Control Systems on an ongoing
basis with the assistance of the Audit Committee;

e« ensure the maintenance of appropriate and
effective Risk Control Systems;

« define management structure with clear lines of
responsibility and limits of authority; and

» determine the nature and extent of significant risks
(including the ESG risks) that the Group is willing
to take in achieving the strategic objectives and
formulate the Group’s risk management strategies.

Audit Committee

e review and discuss the Risk Control Systems with
the management annually to ensure that the
management has performed its duty to maintain
effective Risk Control Systems. This discussion
also includes the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions;
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review the nature and extent of significant risks
(including ESG risks), and the Group’s ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external
environment;

consider major findings on internal control matters
(if any) raised by internal or independent auditors
and make recommendations to the Board; and

review and discuss annually the significant control
failings or weaknesses that are identified by the
internal and independent auditors.

Executive Committee

with the assistance of ESG Committee, review the
effectiveness of ESG-related Risk Control Systems
and report to the Audit Committee for its review.

The management (including Chief Executive Officer,
heads of business units, departments and divisions)

design and implement the Risk Control Systems’
policies and procedures duly endorsed by senior
management and the Board;

monitor the Risk Control Systems properly and
ensure that they are executed effectively;

monitor risks and take measures to mitigate risks in
their day-to-day operations;

give prompt response to, and follow up the findings
on internal control matters raised by internal or
independent auditors;

provide written confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Risk Control Systems; and

prepare organisation charts to show the reporting
relationships within the operation and management
to establish lines of responsibilities.

Internal Audit Department

carry out the analysis and independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Risk Control
Systems in respect of all material controls;
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alert the management on the audit review findings
or irregularities, if any, and advise them on the
implementation of necessary steps and actions to
enhance the internal controls of the Group; and

report the results of internal audit reviews and
agreed action plans to the Audit Committee and the
Board on a regular basis.

(2) Operational Controls
The management is responsible for analysing the
control environment, identifying risks pertaining
thereto, and implementing various controls therein as
follows:

Approach taken: The management communicates
with relevant staff and reviews relevant
documentation of the Risk Control Systems and
evaluates findings of any deficiencies in the
design of the Group’s Risk Control Systems, then
provides recommendations for improvement and
assesses the effectiveness of implementation of
such recommendations, where appropriate. The
scope and findings of the review on the Risk Control
Systems shall be reported to and reviewed by the
Audit Committee annually;

Procedure manuals and operational guidelines:
Manuals and guidelines are in place to safeguard
the assets against unauthorised use or disposition
and ensure maintenance of proper accounting
records that are in compliance with the applicable
laws, rules and regulations for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use and/or
external publication;

Management information system and
technology: To control over the business
activities, it allows close tracking of various inputs
and outputs of the Group’s business such as
inventories, products and customer relationship
and human resources. It also tracks audit trails in
the authorisation system, under which permissions
and responsibility of authorisation are clearly
identified and adequate records can be maintained
in the Risk Control Systems;

Reports and variance analysis: Reports and
analysis of each segment are conducted on a
regular basis;
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Vil.

Information flow: The transparent information
flow alerts the management promptly of any
deviations. Benchmarking with historical database
and comparisons with the same also acts as a
detecting device for spotting unusual activities;

Safeguarding of assets: Surprise physical
cash count of hotels and assets count of leasing
apartments are performed by Operation Finance
team. Full count of cash and inventories are also
performed regularly. To safeguard the assets, CCTV
and security systems are installed in each exchange
counter and casino exit which are monitored by
Security and Surveillance Department controlled
by SJM. Insurance coverage on the hotel properties
is periodically reviewed by the management for
sufficiency coverage, and to ensure compliance with
the terms and conditions of the insurance policies;

Credit control: Relevant policy and procedures
are in place and the collectability of debts owed
by customers and tenants are reviewed regularly.
If there is indication of delay payment or doubtful
debt, corresponding actions such as follow-up call,
reminder, demand letter or even legal action shall
be taken to follow up the debts; and

viii. Service quality control: Operational systems of

hotel and gaming business segments are reviewed
regularly to ensure the service quality, and
questionnaires are provided in different outlets
to welcome customers’ feedbacks for our service
improvement.

(3) Financial Controls

46

Policies, procedures and systems are in place to
ensure proper accounting records are maintained
which provide complete, accurate and timely
accounting and management information;

Annual budget of hotel and gaming operations
is prepared and reviewed regularly to ensure any
action can be taken to mitigate any changes in
conditions and market accordingly;

Financial management reports are provided to
all Directors and senior management which give
a balanced and understandable assessment of
the Group’s performance, financial position and
prospects in sufficient details;
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(4)

Vi

Operational reports on revenue, debtors’ ageing
and internal financial analysis are prepared to the
management which give a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group’s operation performance;

Available fund report and cash flow forecast are
regularly reviewed to monitor the cash flows and
working capital requirement of the Group; and

Annual audit by independent auditor is carried
out to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements are prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, the
Group’s accounting policies and the applicable
laws and regulations.

Compliance Controls
The following policies and procedures are in place to
safeguard the compliance controls:

Systems and procedures on disclosure of inside
information to ensure, with the assistance of an
internal work team (if required), that any material
information which comes to the knowledge of any
one or more officers should be promptly identified,
assessed and escalated, where appropriate, for the
attention of the Board. The Board shall make timely
decisions on disclosure, if necessary, and take
appropriate measures to preserve confidentiality of
inside information until proper dissemination of the
inside information;

Policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements which shall
be reviewed and monitored regularly by the CG
Committee as delegated by the Board in order
to ensure the Group is in compliance with all
applicable laws, statutes, rules and regulations and
keep up on any legal developments;

CCT Compliance Committee is established to
monitor, control and review regularly connected
transactions and CCTs of the Group and ensure
proper compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations, the Listing Rules and disclosure
requirements;
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iv. Whistle-blowing policy is established to provide
reporting channels and guidance for employees and
related third parties who have business dealings
with the Group (e.g. customers and suppliers) to
raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, about
any suspected misconduct or malpractice within
the Group. The Audit Committee, delegated by the
Board, shall ensure that proper arrangements are in
place for fair and independent investigation of any
concerns raised, appropriate follow-up actions are
taken and other recommendations are provided, if
thinks fit;

v. Anti-corruption policy is established to outline
the Group’s zero-tolerance stance against
bribery and corruption and assists employees in
recognising circumstances that may lead to or give
the appearance of being involved in corruption
or unethical business conduct, so as to avoid
such conduct which is clearly prohibited, and to
promptly seek guidance where necessary or report
any reasonably suspected case of corruption or any
attempts thereof, to the management through an
appropriate reporting channel; and

vi. Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist
financing policy and procedures is established
to set out the general framework for combating
crime against money laundering and financing of
terrorism. It provides guideline to combat money
laundering and terrorist and help the Group’s
employees identify and assess clients/customers/
suppliers/vendors/contractors/transactions/
activities of high risk of money laundering,
terrorist financing or other financial crime and take
appropriate measures and actions.

(5) Review of Internal Control By Internal Audit

48

Effectiveness of internal control is tested by Internal
Audit Department regularly. Internal audit reviews
and agreed action plans shall be reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board on a timely basis.
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C. Risk Management
(1) Risk Management Process

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

C. AREER
(1) EEEEER

The risk management process includes risk identification,
risk analysis, risk evaluation, risk management measures
and risk control and review.

The management is entrusted with duties to identify,
analyse, evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate
risks associated with any activity, function or process
within its scope of responsibility and authority. Risks
are evaluated by the Board and management based on
(i) the severity of the impact of the risks on the Group’s
financial results and operations; and (ii) the probability
and frequency that the risks will occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage
the risks as follows:

e Risk elimination - the management may identify
the risks and implement certain changes or controls
that in effect eliminate the risk entirely.

«  Risk mitigation - the management may implement
risk mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood
and impact of the risk to an acceptable level or
contingency plan for possible loss scenarios.

e Risk control and monitoring - it involves making
decisions regarding which risks are acceptable and
how to address those that are not. Accidents and
other situations involving loss or near-loss will be
investigated and properly documented as part of
the effort to manage risks.

« Risk retention - the management may decide
that the risk rating is low enough that the risk is at
acceptable level and no action is required and the
risk will continue to be monitored as part of the risk
management program to ensure the level of risk
does not increase to an unacceptable level.
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(2) Significant Risks and Strategies

50

Certain significant risks have been identified through
the process of risk identification and assessment. Such
significant risks of the Group together with their key
strategies/control measures are set out below:

a) Changes in social, economic and political

environment:

Changes and volatility in general economic
conditions caused by China-USA political/trade
disputes, and stringent policies implemented by
PRC Central Government and Macau Government
impacting hospitality and travel related activities
in Macau. Any more adverse change in one of the
above situations would have significant impact on
the Group’s business.

e Stay alert to changes in economic and market
conditions in mainland China or global
economy and adjust business strategic plans to
cope with these changes.

e Explore opportunities to expand business or
market (e.g. Hong Kong), broaden the Group’s
customer base (e.g. covering leasing apartment
tenants) so as to widen the income source and
enhance utilisation of resources of the Group.

«  While keeping high-quality hospitality
services, endeavor to control the expenses
and manpower or reallocate resources in
an efficient manner. For example, setting
up of hotel management companies aim
to better utilise the manpower and human
resources within the Group and regular review
of the performance of leasing apartment
management company aims to control cost
and quality of service.
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b) SJIM’s operating license and services agreement

c)

(including the risk in changing law and policy of
satellite operator by local government):

On 9 June 2025, the Group received a notice from
SJM in relation to its decision not to continue the
gaming operation in the gaming area located at
Grand Emperor Hotel following the expiry of the
Service Agreements on 31 December 2025.

«  Management will actively explore any suitable
business opportunities to strengthen the
Group’s income base.

Keen competition in hotel and gaming industry:
Increased competition in hotel and gaming industry
due to opening of more luxury and diversified
hotels/resorts by competitors as well as increasing
in numbers of gaming tables and slot machines
from existing casinos in Macau and among other
Asian countries. No assurance that the growth of
tourism industry would increase in line with or
outpace the supply of hotel accommodation, casino
gaming tables and slot machines and this could
adversely affect the Group’s business.

e Enlarge and expand the Group’s footprint in
sourcing hotel patrons.

« Devote to provide the best personalised
service to the guests in order to give them a
memorable experience; thereby differentiating
the Group’s hotels from the others and
enabling them to make the Group’s hotels be
their first choice when they come back to Hong
Kong and Macau.

e Cooperate with travel agencies and airline
companies to develop long-haul visitor market.

e Launch promotions featuring the excellent
location of the Group’s hotels to attract guests
to extend length of overnight stay, integrating
with local tourism resources, especially World
Cultural Heritage scenic spots.
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d)

e)

e Improve marketing and promotion strategies
(such as incentive scheme, joint promotions
with other Emperor Group’s members and
bundle sales with theme park’s tickets and
concert tickets for hotel rooms) and enhance
publicities through various channels (e.g.
advertisements, social media and signboard)
from time to time in order to encourage existing
gaming patrons and hotel customers to come
back to our hotels and attract new customers
around the world.

Anti-money laundering (“AML”):

Non-compliance with applicable AML laws
would adversely affect the Group’s business and
reputation.

e Develop and/or continuously review the AML
compliance policy and procedures to ensure
they remain up-to-date and meet all regulatory
requirements.

 Regular internal audit review to ensure
adequacy of internal control procedures as well
as being carried out effectively.

« Comply with the reporting requirements
and procedures as requested by Direccdo de
Inspeccdo e Coordenacdo de Jogos or the
compliance department of SUM or under the
applicable laws.

«  Give sufficient regular training to the staff.

Dependence on people and shortage of labour and
experienced staff:

The pool of experienced management personnel in
Macau’s gaming industry is limited. No assurance
to recruit and retain the replacement of the existing
key management personnel once loss of their
service. In addition, there is intense competition to
recruit and retain a sufficient number of qualified
and skilled casino or hotel employees due to a
relatively limited labor market of the supply of
employees.
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e Ensure competitiveness of the reward system
and incentive system with reference to market
bench.

e Clearline of sight on career ladder.

e Maintain regular dialogues with staff on
personal goals for career advancement.

«  Provide specific skills trainings to different level
of staff.

«  Develop and implement staff development and
learning programs as well as staff recognition
and work-life balance programs.

« Expansion of talent acquisition pipelines
via close communications with vocational
institutions and universities to attract “new
blood”.

e Application for foreign labor quota to hire
certain number of foreign workers to fill a
staffing vacancy.

D. Management Confirmation

The Board acknowledged that it had received a confirmation
from the management on the effectiveness of the Risk
Control Systems of the Group for the Year. The Audit
Committee and the Board, upon reviewing the Risk Control
Systems, were not aware of any significant issues that
would have a material adverse impact on the effectiveness
and adequacy of the Group’s operational, financial and
compliance areas of the Risk Control Systems.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy setting out the
principles for the Board to determine appropriate amount of
dividend to be distributed to the Shareholders. The Company
intends to provide the Shareholders with regular interim and
final dividends (as the case may be) based on the earnings
attributable to its Shareholders after taking into consideration
of the factors as stated in the policy, including inter alia, (i) cash
flow requirements for business operations; (ii) cash available,
financial liabilities and capital commitment; (iii) market
environment and challenges; and (iv) future development
and investment opportunities. The declaration of dividends
or recommendation on such payment shall be subject to all
applicable laws, rules and regulations including but not limited
to the Listing Rules, the applicable laws of Bermuda and the Bye-
laws of the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s Shareholders’ Communication Policy (available
on the website of the Company) sets out the strategies, practices
and commitment for maintaining ongoing and effective
communication with the Shareholders, both individual and
institutional, and in appropriate circumstances, the investment
community at large so as to enable them to engage with
the Company and exercise their rights as Shareholders in an
informed manner. To this end, the Company strives to ensure
that all Shareholders have ready and timely access to all publicly
available information of the Group. To facilitate communication
with the Shareholders and the investment community, the
Company has established various communication channels,
as follows: (i) the holding of AGMs and special general meetings
(“SGM(s)7), if any, which may be convened for specific purposes
to provide opportunities for the Shareholders to communicate
directly with the Board; (ii) the publication of announcements,
annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars as required
under the Listing Rules and press releases providing updated
information of the Group; (iii) the availability of latest
information of the Group on the Company’s website at
https://www.Emp296.com; (iv) the holding of press conference(s)
from time to time; and (v) meeting with investors and analysts
where necessary.

General presentations are made when financial results are
announced and dialogue with institutional Shareholders is made
from time to time. Shareholders and investors are welcome
to visit the Company’s website to raise enquiries through
our Investor Relations Department whose contact details
are available on the Company’s website and the “Corporate
Information and Key Dates” section of this annual report.

The Chairperson of the Board and the chairperson/members
of the Board Committees, appropriate management executives
and the independent auditor (as the case may be) are available
to attend the general meetings to answer questions from the
Shareholders.

The Company shall review the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy annually to ensure its implementation and effectiveness.
Having considered the multiple channels of communication
and engagement in place, the Board is satisfied that the
Shareholders” Communication Policy was properly in place
during the Year and remained effective.
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EXELNRS

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders
as required to be disclosed pursuant to the CG Code:

Right to Convene/Call General Meetings

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and the Bye-laws
of the Company, Shareholder(s) holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall have the right to submit a
written requisition requiring a SGM to be called by the Board.
The written requisition (a) must state the purpose(s) of the
meeting; and (b) must be signed by the requisitionists and
deposited at the registered office or principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong for attention of the Company
Secretary, and may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more requisitionists. Such requisition will
be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar
and upon its confirmation that the requisition is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene
a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all Shareholders. On the
contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order, the
requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and accordingly,
the SGM will not be convened as requested.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of a valid requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM for a day
not more than 2 months after the date of deposit of a proper
requisition, the requisitionists or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them may
themselves convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of 3 months from the said date of
deposit of the requisition. In addition, such meeting convened
by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened
by Board.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings
Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any
number of the Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having at the
date of the requisition a right to vote at general meetings of
the Company (“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such
Shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give to
the Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next general
meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be moved
and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate
to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting
any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the
matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business
to be dealt with at that meeting. The requisition signed by all
the Requisitionists must be deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong with a sum reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses and not less
than six weeks before the meeting in the case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week before
the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided that
an AGM is called for a date six weeks or less after the requisition
has been deposited, such requisition though not deposited
within the time required shall be deemed to have been properly
deposited for the purposes thereof.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director
The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available for viewing on the Company’s
website.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited. Other Shareholders’
enquiries can be directed to the Investor Relations Department of
the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no significant changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Year.
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EEERHE

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE AND
REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor
the independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity
and effectiveness of the audit process of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with applicable standards.
Members of the Audit Committee were of the view that Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) was independent and
recommended the Board to propose its re-appointment as the
Company’s independent auditor at the 2025 AGM. During the
Year, Deloitte rendered audit and non-audit services to the Group
and the remuneration paid/payable to it by the Group is set out
as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EMPEROR ENTERTAINMENT
HOTEL LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 64 to 150, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Key audit matter

PREsER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HITMAEEMREZEIR

Valuation of investment properties located in Macau

iR RMPIZ IR B MEZEE

We identified the valuation of investment properties
located in Macau as a key audit matter due to the
significant management’s assumptions involved in
the valuation.
RITHEMUMNRFAZREMEZHEA—BRAREXZ
EE RRAGEIREEENEKRERR

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s investment properties held
for earning rental income under operating leases
of commercial properties in Macau amounted to
HKS$454,100,000 as at 31 March 2025. Fair value
losses arising from those investment properties of
HK$49,000,000 were recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 March 2025. The
fair value of the Group’s investment properties in
Macau was estimated based on a valuation on these
properties conducted by an independent firm of
qualified professional property valuers engaged
by the Company and approved by the directors
of the Company using income capitalisation
method with significant unobservable inputs and
assumptions of market conditions. The relevant
inputs and conditions include capitalisation
rates and comparable market rents transactions
with adjustments to reflect different locations or
conditions, and changes in market conditions.

MG SRR FTAPTIEE > 202583831
H> BE&£EREBEEEVELCSHERNREMSEIER
INEEWARRZIEEYZE%454,100,0008 T ZF
KREMEERZ AANEBEZEHEA9,000,0008TER
BE2025F3A3IH L FEZAGEEREMEE K
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Our procedures in relation to evaluating the
appropriateness of the valuation of investment
properties located in Macau included:
;M‘_J%}E%:F{Eﬁﬁ’:\iﬁﬂF‘iﬁﬁ%¥ﬁiﬁz1‘éE%“EEZ*EE?@
&
e Understanding management’s process for
reviewing the work of the independent qualified
professional property valuers engaged by the
Company;

THREERESEE SRIZENBILFEREX

MELEMR TIEZRIZ ;

« Evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent qualified
professional property valuers engaged by the
Company;

Mt BEAREENBISEREEYXELEM
ZABRBRNORERMGL;

« Understanding the valuation techniques and key
inputs applied by holding discussion with the
management of the Group and the independent
qualified professional property valuers engaged
by the Company with the involvement of our
internal valuation specialists; and
B EEEEEER BEARNZEMNBISER
HEYEGEMETHR THEXTZASEES
R2E> DU THMEANMGERNTRBARER AN
%K

e Assessing, with the involvement of our internal
valuation specialists, the reasonableness of
the valuation conducted by the independent
qualified professional property valuers engaged
by the Company by (i) checking details of rentals,
on a sample basis, to the respective underlying
existing tenancy agreements; (ii) comparing to
relevant market information on rentals achieved
and capitalisation rates adopted in other similar
properties with the consideration of changes
in market conditions; and (iii) developing an
independent estimate based on market available
data.

BB FASETHEAREHEERESENHES (&
HEEE) (B EBERNHES REMBOYE
FIRAZEREER Gt R REs) NEATIEE
5 B (iii) &1 35 ] 15 B 6l B B 1L TR AR E 2R 5T
ff EREEENBILSEREXRY R (LERMFRT
ig’%ﬁZfEﬁZéIE‘li’ WHATZAMHEERS

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2R 21244 HEHRAE]
Annual Report 2024/2025 ££%§

59



—

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBEER S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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DITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
E AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED

F| NANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions

take
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n to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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B ZBETER S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Au Mei Yin (practising certificate
number: P04754).

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
20 June 2025

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2R 21244 HEHRAE]

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BEMMBEZ S MBEERR
Z2EE®

FTREREEERAEEE BEXHR
FREMBRREZIFNREREE A
FISRBEZEE - [RIFEARIERATHA
RRBILEERN (EBEANERT)
AITRAHRBULFFRASERRNA
RERREBBARMEBIULEZHENER
MAEERSPFLURE > BRIETEE
MRS P EEIE -

HEBIZBMBRENBAFEBESTEA
AEEE (BESIZERIN P04T54) °

{85n - AR5 FEHEATT
HE AT

R
20255%6H20H

Annual Report 2024/2025 ££%§

63



—

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SFalRmRAMEEmER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

Revenue WA

Contracts with customers BEEE#H 5(a) 784,796 740,737

Leases HE 5(b) 52,159 48,525
Total revenue “EU A 836,955 789,262
Cost of sales THE A (34,622) (36,429)
Cost of hotel and gaming operations BERBEEH ZH A& (443,843) (432,154)
Direct operating expenses in respect HEREYMEZ

of leasing investment properties BEEKEHY (17,684) (12,830)
Gross profit EF 340,806 307,849
Other income Hg A 15,495 20,741
Other gains and losses HtE R E18E 7 33,630 (78)
Fair value changes of investment REMERIANEBEZE

properties (371,670) (20,300)
Reversal of impairment allowance for B 5 FEWER Z i (B & 5 ]

trade receivables 1,669 -
Selling and marketing expenses HERTZEEEB (160,584) (146,369)
Administrative expenses THEH (137,688) (125,360)
Finance costs &R 8 (1,106) (1,073)
(Loss) profit before taxation PRI AT (B518) EF 9 (279,448) 35,410
Taxation credit R IE O] 43 11 31,370 27,421
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive & (§538) il K

(expense) income for the year 2mE (FX) WE4a%E (248,078) 62,831
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive — FE{LERE (E518) HF K&

(expense) income for the year 2| AR Wa

attributable to: MEE

Owners of the Company KABERB A (188,859) 60,885

Non-controlling interests JEVERG S (59,219) 1,946

(248,078) 62,831

(Loss) earnings per share gk (B18) &F

Basic =i 13 HKS$(0.16)# 7t HKS0.057% 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION'
SFaMFmINRE

At 31 March 2025 F$20254#3831H

Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment properties BREME 14 1,530,100 1,485,900
Property, plant and equipment ME-HBRRE 15 2,159,022 2,253,841
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 16 368,749 384,898
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEME HWRERIZEZ
property, plant and equipment BffsIE 3,633 1,563
Pledged bank deposit BIERIRITER 18 32,090 30,811
4,093,594 4,157,013
Current assets MENE E
Inventories =78 11,423 12,256
Trade and other receivables B 5 K B A FE Uk 17 63,879 78,114
Pledged bank deposit BIRIRIRITEM 18 323 311
Short-term bank deposit FERRIRITER 18 14,540 14,900
Bank balances and cash RITERKRIRE 18 525,943 599,790
616,108 705,371
Current liabilities mEmaR
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENR 19 123,251 102,518
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries REZRMB AT HIE 20 107,990 6,367
Amounts due to non-controlling T BRE Z IFIERE =
interests of subsidiaries ErE| 21 39,523 39,523
Taxation payable FE(T IR IA 12,447 51,733
Lease liabilities HE&E 24 841 611
284,052 200,752
Net current assets MENEEREE 332,056 504,619
Total assets less current liabilities HMEERREBERE 4,425,650 4,661,632
Non-current liabilities EREBERE
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary X—HEREAMBARRE 20 23,596 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 26,569 26,278
Deferred taxation EIEF 1A 25 69,236 63,200
119,401 89,478
Net assets BEEFE 4,306,249 4,572,154
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SFEMEIRRE

At 31 March 2025 F$20254#3831H

Capital and reserves BRR#E
Share capital &N

26 119 119
3,545,892 3,752,578

3,546,011 3,752,697
29 760,238 819,457

Reserves B3]

Equity attributable to owners RATEE ANELED
of the Company

Non-controlling interests JEIERG R

Total equity R AEEE

4,306,249 4,572,154

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 150 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20
June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander
By RE
Director

3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY'
SFoEmEnE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

At 1 April 203 RU3E4EIR 119 436,76 019 U58) B 39639 2832988 3691812 SI7TALL 450933
Profitand total compreheniveincome - EERHIREENELE

forthe year - - - - - - 60,885 60,885 1,946 02,81
Transfer from retained profits o legal eserve BR @A BATERHE - - - - 3 - (3) - - -
3L Mrch 2024 IR BETS 61 WS I3 3630 LT 3TRE  I9MST 4STAISA
Loss and fotal comprehiensive expense. FEFERAARIAE

for theyer : : : : : - (1885 (188859  (59,219) (48078)
2024 final dividend paid BRNUERERE = = = = > - (g () - (18

31 arch 2035 WISE3E3IR 866619 WS 3B 3630 268TI51 35601 608 4306249

Note: The other reserve of the Group arose from acquisition of additional — ffat . FEBZ HitEHAEE2022E38318K
interests in non-wholly owned subsidiaries from non-controlling interests 20193831 HIEFERBIFERESIE
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2019. FEEMBAT ZEEIMERFRESL
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FaRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

Cash flows from operating activities REKEEHZHERE

(Loss) profit before taxation PRIZAT (B518) BT (279,448) 35,410
Adjustments for: HE
Interest income FIEWA (14,284) (19,311)
Interest expenses FMEZH 1,016 948
Fair value changes of investment REME/AAEEZ
properties =) 371,670 20,300
Reversal of impairment allowance BRI RZ RAERE
for trade receivables #[E (1,669) -
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- KB REZEZ
equipment e 112,039 120,457
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 17,030 17,024
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HEME - HWRRREZ
plant and equipment (W #) B518 (33,664) 54
Operating cash flows before movements Rt & & RS 2
in working capital REHRERE 172,690 174,882
Decrease (increase) in inventories FE2ZRELD (Em) 833 (944)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other EZKREMEKRZTZ
receivables L (3 n) 15,959 (24,706)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other B KREMENHZ
payables GRLZL) 1810 (5,101) 14,803
Increase (decrease) in amounts dueto RREZRMBABRIEZ
fellow subsidiaries 1o Gei) 7,241 (15,522)
Cash generated from operations REKEEHZRE 191,622 148,513
Income tax paid BAIFR1EH (1,880) (636)
Net cash from operating activities REKEFHZIRE P 189,742 147,877
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SFalERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

Cash flows from investing activities REREETHZHERE
Net cash inflow from disposal of HE—RRBAEZ
subsidiaries RERAFRE 23 271,232
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME KB RIZEZ
plant and equipment FRSFIE 48,393
Withdrawal of short-term bank REBUEHAIRITEMR
deposits 15,249
Interest received BUF 2 15,195
Withdrawal of a pledged bank deposit  ZERE K IFIRITER =
Acquisition of investment properties W EYE 22 (547,087)
Payment for additional costs of ZHREMEEEDN
investment properties REIM AR AN (2,585)
Acquisition of property, plant and BEME HEKRRE
equipment (26,327)
Placement of short-term bank FEAFHRITER
deposits (14,889)
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEME HRERIZEZ
property, plant and equipment BffsIE (2,276)
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEABKRIRITER (1,291)
Net cash (used in) from investing (BR) kREREEZEZ
activities REPHE (244,386)
Cash flows from financing activities REMEBETBZRERE
New bank borrowings raised BEEEMBITER 4,000
Dividend paid BNKRE (17,827)
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITER (4,000)
Interest paid BaFE (1,016)
Repayments of lease liabilities EBEHEEEE (360)
Net cash used in financing activities ARmEEEZIRE 5 (19,203)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and HERREEEBYZ
cash equivalents GREZL) 18 hn R %8 (73,847)
Cash and cash equivalents at the BREMHUZRER
beginning of the reporting period RE%EY 599,790
Cash and cash equivalents attheend  HEHRZREK
of the reporting period, representing ~ BREEEY) >
bank balances and cash BMERTTHE R RIRE 525,943
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244,234

18,048
66,555

(20,994)
(202,345)

(1,196)
(31,490)

219,460

380,330

599,790
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

1.

70

GENERAL INFORMATION

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited (“Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”). The Company’s immediate holding company
is Emperor International Group Holdings Limited, a
limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. The ultimate holding company of the Company is
Albert Yeung Holdings Limited, a limited liability company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which is in turn held
by First Trust Services AG, being the trustee of The Albert
Yeung Discretionary Trust (“AY Trust”), the founder and
settlor of which is Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert (“Dr. Yeung”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information and Key Dates” section of this annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKS$”), which is also the functional currency
of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 38.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sra B IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. BRMAREEBITZ2ER
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING MRS ENNE 2R
STANDARDS
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting MREFEEBPNERZE R
Standards that are mandatorily effective for FHREENNTHENZE
the current year H
In the current year, the Group has applied the following RAFER ZEBEMERGESHT
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued BREREAHSEBEGHMAE (IF
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants BEHEAE) BB TIERBTE
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective HREERNGEHER BT HRNAE
for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April 2024 for E2024F481HMB Z FE AR AT
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements: £
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and BERAUBHREER EEHELEZHEE

Leaseback F16RZ1EET BE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as BEARAGTER B1E5 5478
Current or Non-current and B ZEET =12 /Y
related amendments to BEEZEFES
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 FE(2020%) #6
(2020) RI1EET
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with BEARAGTER 1 75 22 55 B9 FF 7F
Covenants B ZEET FEE
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance BEAGtER 11 8 i i B
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements BIHREE
AR E 2R
BIRZEET
The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting AEERRAEEVEREENNG
Standards in the current year has had no material impact HRZEIHAERRAXEERBE
on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the FENMBERIERRER HHIIR
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in ZEREMBRENKBLEEAR
these consolidated financial statements. Zo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R M IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. EFhiIEREETZ2E R

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING

STANDARDS (continued)
New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint
Venture!

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards - Volume 11°

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standard mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sra B IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. EhiIEREETZ2E R

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING

STANDARDS (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in
the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs
have been moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and Errors and HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures. Minor amendments to HKAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Farnings per Share are
also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation
of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the
future financial statements. The Group is in the process of
assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered
material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties
which are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree
to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

» Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

« has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

«  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sra B IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3. REMBRREGNEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon
liquidation.

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration test
is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or
group of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under
assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax
assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred tax
liabilities. If the concentration test is met, the set of activities
and assets is determined not to be a business and no further
assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
investment properties which are subsequently measured
under fair value model and financial assets/financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the other
identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative
fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction does
not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

» the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations including bundle sales for hotel accommodation,
and food and beverage, the Group allocates the transaction
price to each performance obligation on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price) (continued)

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined
at contract inception. It represents the price at which the
Group would sell a promised good or service separately to a
customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satistaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is
to recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements
of the value of the services transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining services promised under
the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of services.

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

The Group provides services to a gaming concessionaire in
Macau under service arrangements for gaming operation in
mass market hall and slot machine hall. The performance
obligation represents provision of gaming-related marketing
and public relation services to the gaming concessionaire.
Revenue from such services is recognised as a performance
obligation satisfied over time as the Group is entitled
to receive its service income according to the relevant
operating performance from the gaming concessionaire
which simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs.

The Group also provides hotel rooms to customers. The
performance obligation represents provision of hotel
accommodation services for the customers. Revenue from
hotel rooms is recognised as a performance obligation
satisfied over time as the Group is entitled to receive its
income according to the relevant operating performance
from the customers and the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Performance obligations for contracts with customers
(continued)

The transaction price of food and beverage sales is the
net amount collected from the customers for such goods.
The transaction price for such transactions is recorded as
revenue when the goods are transferred to the customer.
There is no other separate performance obligation identified
except for delivery of goods. The revenue on food and
beverage sales is recognised when the food and beverage
are delivered.

The Group has other contracts that include multiple goods
and services, such as packages that bundle food and
beverage and other services with hotel stays. For such
arrangements, the Group allocates revenue to each good or
service based on its relative stand-alone selling price. The
Group primarily determines the stand-alone selling price of
hotel rooms and food and beverage based on the amount
that the Group charges when each is sold separately in
similar circumstances to similar customers.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at fair values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income. Gains or losses arising from changes
in the fair value of investment properties are included in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

If a property becomes an owner-occupied property because
its use has been changed as evidenced by commencement
of owner-occupation, the fair value of the property at the
date of change in use is considered as the deemed cost for
subsequent accounting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets including
buildings that are held for use in the supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost or deemed cost upon transfer
from investment properties, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as
“right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under fair value
model. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or
deemed cost of items of property, plant and equipment less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are also allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 Leases (‘“HKFRS
16”) at inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability; and

e anyinitial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as
an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term except
for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
selling prices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sra B IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FAIBHREGENEER

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits
Bank balances and cash and pledged bank deposits
presented on the consolidated statement of financial
position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash;

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or
less); and

(c) pledged bank deposits, which comprise of restricted
deposits arising from requirement under the New
Gaming Concession Contract that are held for meeting
short-term cash commitments. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances
and cash.

Inventories

Inventories represent food and beverage, consumable and
other goods of hotel and are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on
a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Taxation
Taxation credit represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax (credit) expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profits differs from (loss) profit before taxation
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is
rebutted, deferred tax for such investment properties are
measured in accordance with the above general principles
set out in HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes (i.e. based on the expected
manner as to how the properties will be recovered).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either:

(a) the same taxable entity; or

(b) different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS Accounting Standard requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets and lease receivables
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instrument (“HKFRS 97)

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) on financial assets (including trade and
other receivables, pledged bank deposits, short-term bank
deposit and bank balances) and lease receivables which
are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12 months ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experiences, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions
at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sra B IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FAIBHREGENEER

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and lease receivables

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instrument (“HKFRS 9”) (continued)

The Group always recognises a lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and lease receivables.

For other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

« existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations; or

« an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and lease receivables

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial

Instrument (“HKFRS 9”) (continued)

(i)

(if)

92

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and lease receivables
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subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial

Instrument (“HKFRS 9”) (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and lease receivables

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial

Instrument (“HKFRS 9”) (continued)

(v)

94

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a
lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining the
ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring
the lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables and lease receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sra B IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FAIBHREGENEER

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and amounts due to
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgment in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgment, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the directors of the
Company have reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties situated in Macau with aggregate carrying
amount of HKS$454,100,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HKS$511,900,000) are held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in these investment properties over
time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the directors of
the Company have determined that the presumption that
the carrying amounts of such investment properties are
recovered through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group
has recognised deferred tax liabilities of HK$33,297,000
(2024: HKS$39,177,000) on changes in fair value of the
investment properties subject to Macau Complementary Tax
on the assumption that these investment properties will be
recovered through use as at 31 March 2025.

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2R 21244 EEBRAE]
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4. CRITICALACCOUNTING JUDGMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgment in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties (continued)
In respect of investment properties that are located in Hong
Kong with aggregate carrying amount of HK$1,076,000,000
(2024: HKS974,000,000), the directors of the Company
concluded that these investment properties are not held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in these
investment properties over time. Therefore, in measuring the
Group’s deferred taxation in these investment properties,
the directors of the Company have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of such investment
properties using the fair value model are recovered entirely
through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has not
recognised any deferred tax liability on changes in fair value
of the investment properties situated in Hong Kong, as it is
expected that the Group will not subject to any income taxes
on disposal of these investment properties.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Valuation of investment properties

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties in Macau
and Hong Kong was estimated based on a valuation on these
properties conducted by an independent firm of qualified
professional property valuers engaged by the Company and
approved by the directors of the Company using income
capitalisation method with significant unobservable inputs
and assumptions of market conditions for both years. The
relevant inputs and conditions include capitalisation rates
and comparable market rent transactions with adjustments
to reflect different locations or conditions, and changes in
market conditions for both years.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sra B IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

The Group’s investment properties held for capital
appreciation and for earning rental income under operating
leases of commercial properties in Macau amounted to
HKS$454,100,000 (2024: HK$511,900,000) as at 31 March 2025.
Fair value losses arising from those investment properties
of HKS$49,000,000 (2024: fair value gains of HK$19,700,000)
were recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
March 2025.

The Group’s investment properties held for earning rental
income under operating leases of leasing apartments
in Hong Kong amounted to HKS$1,076,000,000 (2024:
HK$974,000,000) as at 31 March 2025. Fair value losses
arising from those investment properties of HK$322,670,000
(2024: HKS40,000,000) were recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The basis of valuation is disclosed in note 14. Changes to
these assumptions and inputs would result in changes in
the fair value of investment properties and corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in the
profit or loss.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties, the Group uses market-observable data to the
extent it is available. At the end of each reporting period,
the designated team works closely with the independent
firms of qualified professional property valuers engaged by
the Company to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for Level 3 fair value
measurements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sra B IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE20254#3531HIEF/Z

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT 4, EETHHHIEB(ETFE

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Impairment assessment on the recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
in respect of hotel and related operations in Grand
Emperor Hotel (collectively “Grand Emperor Hotel

Properties”)

The impairment assessment of the Grand Emperor Hotel
Properties is performed by comparing the recoverable
amount of the Grand Emperor Hotel Properties, which is the
higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use to
its carrying amount as at 31 March 2025.

The recoverable amount of the Grand Emperor Hotel
Properties is estimated based on fair value less cost
of disposal using income approach with significant
unobservable inputs and key assumptions adopted by the
management of the Group including forecasted revenue and
costs, and discount rate applied in the valuation conducted
by an independent firm of qualified professional valuers
engaged by the Company and approved by the directors of
the Company. Changing the inputs and assumptions could
materially affect the fair value.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no impairment loss
has been recognised on the Grand Emperor Hotel Properties
(2024: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

5. REVENUE 5. ITA
(a) Contracts with customers (A EREH

An analysis of the Group’s revenueis ~ ANEBZUWADHUWT :

as follows:
Recognised over time: W —ER R R bERD -
Gaming revenue: BRUWA
- Service income from gaming —HIZEERZZ
transactions in mass market hall AR FE WA 485,786 441,491
- Service income from gaming —AFREEERSZZ
transactions in slot machine hall AR FE WA 19,830 17,659
Hotel revenue: BEWA
- Hotel room income —BEERKA 163,731 166,247
- Others —HAth 441 871
669,788 626,268
Recognised at a point in time: R ERREESD :
Hotel revenue: BEIEWA
- Food and beverage sales —EMIHE 115,008 114,469
Revenue from contracts with REEFAHBA
customers 784,796 740,737
Gaming revenue BREWA 505,616 459,150
Hotel revenue BIEUWA 279,180 281,587
Revenue from contracts with REERSHRA
customers 784,796 740,737
On 30 December 2022, Tin Hou Limited (“Tin Hou”), R2022F 128300 AT —
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, MEE2ENB A RRAERAHE
entered into an agreement with SUM Resorts, S.A. (TR&F)) BRRGEEERRGOE
(*SJM”) for the provision of gaming-related marketing RAF (TR 57— K% B
and public relation services to SJM in Grand Emperor 2023 F 1B 1HE3FARERER
Hotel for a term of 3 years commencing from 1 January LOBIERRBREMEEERZT
2023. 15 ¥ B e A BAAR TS ©
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100  AonvaiReportaooasosss



S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

5.

REVENUE (continued)

(a) Contracts with customers (continued)
Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with

customers

All sales or services rendered from gaming and hotel
transactions are for contracts with an original period of
one year or less. As a practical expedient under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these remaining
performance obligations is not disclosed.

(b) Leases

Total revenue arising from leases:

BREEEZHIA

Operating lease payments that are fixed EE&EHE F=

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. ITA @

() BEEAaY #®
MERSHPHEF FEAERE
ZXBERE

BREERBERZIRHENAH
EHRBISRBRA —FHU
RBEX - EREBHHREER
FISKZATRERZ PREZ
ERTRNEEZXRZERKRT
KR

(b)#HE

2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHEr T#ET

‘!I 48,525

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company (“Executive
Directors”) have been identified as the chief operating
decision makers (“CODM”). The CODM review the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance and
allocate resources.

The segment information reported externally is analysed
on the basis of the composition of its reporting segments
by geographical operations, which are Macau operations
and Hong Kong operations, respectively. The CODM are of
the view that the presentation of the operating segment
information better reflects the Group’s operations and this
is consistent with the internal information regularly reviewed
by the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The Group’s operating segments are classified as (i) Macau
operations and (ii) Hong Kong operations. The details of the
Group’s operating segments are as follows:

(i) Macau operations

Operations in Macau derive revenues from gaming,
hotel and leasing transactions: (a) gaming revenue
from services rendered for mass market hall and slot
machine hall transactions and provision of gaming-
related marketing and public relation services for Grand
Emperor Hotel, (b) hotel revenue from sales or services
rendered in Grand Emperor Hotel and Inn Hotel, and
(c) leasing revenue from investment properties in these
hotels.

(ii) Hong Kong operations
Operations in Hong Kong derive revenues from hotel
and leasing transactions: (a) hotel revenue from sales
or services rendered in a hotel and (b) leasing revenue
from investment properties in the hotel and leasing
apartments.

The CODM assess the performance of individual
operating and reportable segments based on a measure
of adjusted profit before interest, tax, depreciation,
exchange losses at corporate level and fair value
changes of investment properties (“Adjusted EBITDA”).

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 52244 FEEFRAE]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. FEEHE ®
Information regarding the above segments is reported BERLEAEDEZEHZR/RMOT ¢
below:

Segment revenues and results REWBWARES
For the year ended 31 March 2025 B E2025463831HIEEE

SFEWA

Segment revenue

Gaming revenue IEEAVON 505,616 - 505,616
Hotel revenue VAN 164,697 114,483 279,180
Leasing revenue HAEWKA 20,298 31,861 52,159
Total A% 690,611 146,344 836,955
Segment result based on the BN REEBITDAZ

Adjusted EBITDA DERES 197,056 11,091 208,147
Bank interest income RITH B WA 14,284
Depreciation of property, ME--RBRREZ

plant and equipment e (112,039)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE (17,030)
Exchange losses at corporate level ®¥%EHEMEREE (34)
Fair value changes of investment  REYEAIAABEZ

properties b (371,670)
Finance costs &R (1,106)

Loss before taxation BRI ARS8 (279,448)
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Annual Report 2024/2025 3R 103



—

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMSE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenues and results (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

6. EEHE®»

PEWARER (2
# Z 2024463531 H 1L F

Segment revenue SEWA
Gaming revenue BEKRA 459,150 - 459,150
Hotel revenue EE WA 171,433 110,154 281,587
Leasing revenue HEWRA 18,925 29,600 48,525
Total &5t 649,508 139,754 789,262
Segment result based on the B AEEBITDAZ

Adjusted EBITDA DEES 151,936 23,095 175,031
Bank interest income RITH EWA 19,311
Depreciation of property, ME-RERREZ

plant and equipment e (120,457)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREBEZINE (17,024)
Fxchange losses at corporate level 1% & FERIEE R 4518 (78)
Fair value changes of investment  KEWERIABEZ

properties b ) (20,300)
Finance costs MBEER (1,073)
Profit before taxation FRFR R 35,410

Other than the segment information disclosed above, there
was no other information reviewed by the CODM for the year

ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

Segment assets and liabilities

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating
and reportable segments is disclosed as it is not regularly

provided to the CODM for review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMSE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. PEEH ®

Geographical information hE 5

The Group’s operations are located in Macau and Hong REBMEFUNRPIRES

Kong.

The Group’s revenue from external customers and information NEERBIIBEEZMAREEE
about its non-current assets, other than a pledged bank EMBUSADZIERIEE (FEIE
deposit, by geographical location of the assets are detailed —HERRIRITER) 2ERNFBN
below: e

Macau JE P 690,611 649,508 1,624,913 1,751,126
Hong Kong &8 146,344 139,754 2,436,591 2,375,076

836,955 789,262 4,061,504 4,126,202

Information about major customer EREXEERZEH

During the year ended 31 March 2025, revenue derived from REE2025%F3831HLEFEER KB
one (2024: one) customer which contributed over 10% of the IEARERBUALONU EZ—& (2024
Group’s total revenue amounted to HK$505,616,000 (2024: F:—8) BEFHIWA#505,616,000%
HK$459,150,000). The revenue related to Macau operations 76 (20244 : 459,150,000 7T) © UL A
(2024: Macau operations). BLURPIEETS (20245  JBPIET) AR
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. Hithig s RESHR

Gain on disposal of property, HEME -HBRREZWE
plant and equipment

Net foreign exchange losses EREIRPEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MEEHR

Interests on: MR
- Bank borrowings —RITIE
- Lease liabilities —fHEaR’
Bank charges RITFEE
9. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. fx#aAy (B5HR) &
(Loss) profit before taxation has been Prif AT (B518) A
arrived at after charging: [S]
Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments B TR 4s > BIREEM = 320,799 292,230
Retirement benefit schemes contributions BA%EF st B # 3k 4,340 3,980
Total staff costs WEBT A 325,139 296,210
Auditor’s remuneration T2 B BT AN & 3,373 4,400
Commission expenses in gaming BREEZZHAEER
operation (included in selling and Gt AHE R
marketing expenses) HIGHEERR) 62,821 69,706
Cost of inventories recognised BERARXZEFENE
as an expense 34,622 36,429
Depreciation of property, ME--RERREZINE
plant and equipment 112,039 120,457
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAREEZINE 17,030 17,024
Loss on disposal of property, HEME -HBRZEZ
plant and equipment 518 - 54
and after crediting: KRBEGtA:
Gross rental income from investment KREMEZHE WAL
properties 48,525
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred & : WU BREXFE S U A BY
for investment properties that KREYERMEEN
generated rental income (included HEEEMX
in administrative expenses) GtATTHRXR) (620)
47,905
Bank interest income RITHF S WA
(included in other income) (Gt A E g A A) 19,311
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10.DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments
Directors” emoluments for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the applicable Listing Rules and CO, is as follows:

10.EERAR
2 &

(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

EEMHMAL

ESHM
HERAEE HHIRRER L
FRAR A GEHIRBNT |

2025 20258
Fees ik
Other emoluments HitEm
Salaries and other benefits HEREMER
Retirement benefitschemes  BAKERIsH B/
contributions
Performance related incentive ~ BRB#IMES
payment (Note/ )
2024 20045
Fees ns - 180 180 180 180 - 180 900
Other emoluments HitEm
Salaries and other benefits HERAMER - - - - - - -
Retirement benefit schemes  iR4KiEFI 5t Bl fttsn
contributions - - - - - - -
Performance related incentive ~ BRRH R0ES
payment (Note/ () - - - - - - -
- 180 180 180 180 - 180 900

Note: The performance related incentive payment is determined
with reference to the financial performance and individual

performance.

The chief executives of the Company are also the
Executive Directors and the emoluments disclosed
above include those services rendered by them as chief
executives.

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The emoluments of non-executive director and
independent non-executive directors shown above were
mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 221344 HEHRAE)

et BRFEHBNESHSERBER
RKRBEANRREE

EN/N SITHABREITA
1T Xﬁ%Z%M@Eﬁ
E1F ABFREEMHZ R
LEFRMATESFMEZES
REMEEBEAQNRDREEBRER
PR (RS 2 3R - A _E PR IE 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

10.DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID WVEFERAERSHMAL

INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 2 & =

(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) {E & % &
The five highest paid individuals did not include any RREEER AgReiHMAL
director of the Company for both years. The total FEREAREREANES - ZAER
emoluments of the five highest paid individuals for both = B A £ 7S B 2 H B AR
years were as follows: REUT :

108

Salaries and other benefits HEREMBEF
Retirement benefit schemes BRREF HEMER
contributions

Emoluments of the employees were  EEZHMNFUTEHE :

within the following bands:

HKS$500,000 - HKS$1,000,000 500,000 7t & 1,000,000 7T

HKS$1,000,001 - HKS$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 £1,500,0007%& 75

HKS$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 75 £2,000,0007%& 75

HKS$2,000,001 - HKS$2,500,000 2,000,001t %E2,500,0008 7T

No remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors FPREEEAN ZEERRREAR
of the Company and the five highest paid employees as AEEREEEaHMEE
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as EFIEREN > UE ARSI R ZFMAS
compensation for loss of office for both years. None of PRMAXRERFZRESNHEEZ
the directors of the Company and the five highest paid HE-FPREFEAN BRAQE
individuals has waived any emoluments during both EEyEEmEmMALTHRES
years. fa] B ©

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2221244 HEHRAE]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sra B IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

10.DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(c) Retirement benefit schemes

NEERAEREHMAL
Z2EM @

(c) iB{kEFIEHE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the plans are held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of the independent
trustees. The Group and each employee make
mandatory contributions of 5% of relevant payroll costs
with maximum monthly contribution of HKS$1,500 to the
scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
retirement scheme for all qualifying employees of a
subsidiary of the Group in Macau since 1 September
2014. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under control of
independent trustees. The retirement scheme cost
recognised in profit or loss represents contributions
payable to funds by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the scheme. Where there are employees of the
Group who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Macau are
members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the Macau government. The Group is
required to contribute a certain percentage of its payroll
to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit schemes is to make the required
contributions under the schemes.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the retirement
benefit schemes contributions were HK$4,340,000 (2024:
HKS$3,980,000).

FEESETHRAEREREER
EEMRHEEARESE - K5t E
ZEEHBILGEAEHNZES
BAE LAKXEEZEEDH A&
EEASREESHRAMMERE
8959 5t B £F Hi 58 &1 14 At 7% - it
RERAEHLS008TT

AEBMB2014FIR1IBETA/E
EEZz—FHRFMMEBRENFRE
BERKES S M E &R A RUR ARG
B ZFE T EEMBILERAE
HZEESHA TRAERZEE
758 o IRz A S 2 IR IR ET I Y
FIEREE L ERRPAETLER
RRESMEZMR HAEERRE
ERMRTUEBEAIREEE &
SEERMERABERRHRE
BRE L HIR

FEBRFMBARDZEE S
BFABRFEERZEREZERAKE
FEEIZHE - FEERRESH
Bz 518 B 59 kb m =% R R 48 F 5t
B - tE AR E B Y Z IR BRI E
BAREZETERNERZS
B2 REETHR

MREBE2025838318LEE
ROoEBARBHABHAREIES
4,340,000 75 (20244 : 3,980,000
BT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMSE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

11.

110

TAXATION CREDIT

11.%5 18 [ 4%

(4,803)
(1,034)

(5,837)

43,163

19
61

80

(6,036)

Current tax: RHRTRIA :
Macau Complementary Tax (“CT”) RFIPTIS M RR
(TFRISHTEIRL)
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBEMER
Reversal of CT provision in respect of BOATEEZ
prior years FRriSHRREE
Over (under)provision in prior years: BEFEBREE
BERR) :
cT Frig/ i
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBEMER
Deferred taxation (note 25) IRIEFRIE (Hfat25)
Taxation credit R IE[E #

31,370

The CT is calculated at the applicable rate of 12% of the
estimated assessable profits for both years.

Pursuant to the CT law, the statutory right to issue CT
assessment on the estimated assessable profit in a year of
assessment will expire in five consecutive years after that
year of assessment. At the end of the reporting period, the
directors of the Company reassessed the adequacy of the
CT provision and determined to reverse part of the Group’s
relevant CT provision of HK$43,163,000 for the 2019 year
of assessment (2024: HKS45,478,000 for the 2018 year of
assessment) accordingly.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profits for both years.

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 25 2{R24E[ERRAE)
Annual Report 2024/20255%k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

11.TAXATION CREDIT (continued) 11.1RIBE% =
The taxation credit for the year can be reconciled to the FEREBELRNHETHESEGTZREME
(loss) profit before taxation per consolidated statement of EWE R ZRIRAT (B518) & F H AR U
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: T

BRIRAT (B51R) i F (279,448)

(Loss) profit before taxation

Taxation credit (charge) at the CT rate HETERTRREDRYIEZ
of 12% RIAE]E (SZH) 33,534
Tax effect of expenses not deductible MIRFEM S AR Z
for tax purpose METE (42,170)
Tax effect of income not taxable for MIRFEM S BARRBAZ
tax purpose MEEE 4,053
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REFDMEBEZMBEE (37,061)
Effect of reversal of tax provision BROBETFEREREZRE
in respect of prior years 43,163
Utilisation of tax losses previously B SRR Z N IARS 18
not recognised 713
Tax effect of deductible temporary REDAIAERMEERZ
differences not recognised MELE
Utilisation of deductible temporary &) F 5Tt A ok B 520 BT 00 B BF 1
differences previously not recognised ERZGEE
Others HAth
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBRER
Taxation credit for the year FEME R £
12.DIVIDENDS 12,22
The board of directors of the Company has resolved not ARBEEEERRTERMNEBE
to recommend any final dividend for the year ended 31 20253831 L FEIRHERKEA
March 2025 (2024: HKS$0.015 per share and in total of BRE (2024%F : 880.0158 > &
HK$17,827,000). 17,827,000 7t) ©

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2R 21244 HEHRAE]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMSE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

13.

14.

112

(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

(Loss) profit (F54R) &=#

(Loss) profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company for the purpose
of basic (loss) earnings per share

(B548) HEF!

mEkEL (BR) BFNMSZ
EREER NEBILEE

13.5% 02 (B51R) B #

TRBEEEARLERELX (BR) B
FITRBUTEIRSTE ©

(188,859)

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue for the purpose of basic
(loss) earnings per share

Rfn&E

mEkEL (BR) BFNMSZ
BETEERMEFIIE

1,188,490,983 EERREIRICIIRCRE

Diluted (loss) earnings per share is not presented as there
was no dilutive potential ordinary share for both years.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various commercial properties and
leasing apartments under operating leases with rentals
payable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial period
of 3 months to 5 years (2024: 3 months to 5 years). Majority
of the lease contracts contain market review clauses in the
event the lessee exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of the relevant group
entities. The lease contracts do not contain residual value
guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property
at the end of lease term.

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2221244 HEHRAE]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sra P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 1458 EME »

Fair value AREE

At 1 April 2023 12023%F481H 1,506,200
Decrease in fair value NRABERD (20,300)
At 31 March 2024 72024438318 1,485,900
Acquisition of investment properties (note 22)  WREBIREW ¥ (Ka222) 700,000

Additions NE
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 23)
Transfer to property, plant and
equipment (note 15)
Adjustment HEE

HEWB QR (#a223)
BEEYE -RBRRE W)

2,585
(275,000)

(8,800)
(2,915)
(371,670)

Decrease in fair value ~NREERD
At 31 March 2025 12025%3831H

1,530,100

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties as at
31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 have been arrived at on
the basis of valuations carried out on those dates by Savills
(Macau) Limited for investment properties in Macau and
Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited for investment
properties in Hong Kong, independent firms of qualified
professional property valuers engaged by the Company
not connected to the Group, in accordance with the HKIS
Valuation Standards 2024 (2024: HKIS Valuation Standards
2020) issued by The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and,
where applicable, the RICS Valuation - Global Standards
issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, both
incorporating the International Valuation Standards.

For the investment properties situated in Macau, they are
held within a business model of the Group whose business
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. The valuation was arrived at with
reference to market rent transactions with adjustments to
reflect different locations or conditions using the applicable
capitalisation rates.

AEBRKREYEN2025F38318K
2024F3R3IHZ AR BEDLRELSA
DEEAAEFTEMEZBISE
MEEYEGEMTE - KFHELS
(CBEf) BRAB kS EBHKRTFEE
RABRZEBEINEBRMHANKRE
MEREBNREVERBEESBAZ
MBgEmrERlEMB2gHEE
AJ2024 (20245 - EBAEMB G HE
#82020) K (WNi#E ) EEERFFA
EMMZ2EAZERE RIS
B2EeEE—2KED (MEHHAREK
HEZER) ETZHEMEE

MAMRFNREYEMS HIZEHW
AR A (MIFHE) REWEFR
BRAMAEEN T2 AEFHEFHE
AFAE -ZEEDHSERLBHEERZ L
L BR A [E) 3 & B IR A L R 2 > 2 AR
BRESECEMERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

14.

114

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

For the investment properties situated in Hong Kong, they
are not held within a business model of the Group whose
business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time. The directors of the Company considered
that income capitalisation method is appropriate for the
valuation of investment properties as at 31 March 2025
and 31 March 2024 as there are more market available data
in respect of comparable market rent transactions. The
valuation of leasing apartments was arrived by capitalising
the rental income with the applicable capitalisation rate. The
market rent is assessed with reference to market evidence
of recent transaction rents for similar properties with
adjustments to reflect different locations and conditions for
both years.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique and inputs used), as
well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Level 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable.

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 52244 FEEFRAE]
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14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

1418 8ME @

Commercial properties in
Macau

QUSRS ES

Leasing apartments in

Hong Kong

RERNEELE

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during both

years.

Level3
#3

Level3
#3

Income capitalisation method with market
unit rent and capitalisation rate as the
key input for both years

RRAEENTHREBREREEEAR
RRASBNUMABR(E

Income capitalisation method with market
unit rent and capitalisation rate as the
key input for both years

RRAFENTHRERREREEEAR
ERASRNUMABR(E

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 221344 HEHRAE)
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Monthly rent, based on saleable floor area using
direct market comparable and taking into
account of time, location, accessible, asking,
frontage and size of properties, which ranged
from HKS21 to HKS9 (2024: HKS22 to HKS98)
per square foot.

B REMEERILENEZ TERERR
TERRNEZER LE FH EE B
FERKN ENTETHRUEREYNET
(2045 NETERET) o

Capitalisation rate, taking into account the
capitalisation of rental income potential,
nature of properties, prevailing market
condition, which ranged from 3.25% t0 4.25%
(2024: 3% to 4%) per annum.

BRfbE G RELHENAZEAL NEL
WE RHERL AN TEE325%F425%
(2003 - 3%F4%) o

Monthly rent, based on saleable floor area using
direct market comparable and taking into
account of time, location, building age, quality,
view, outgoings, internal condition/service
provision, floor level and size of properties,
which ranged from HKS28 to HKS90 (2024:
HKS30 to HKS92) per square foot.

B REMEERILRNEZ TERERR
TERRNEZER B B EX 2B
SRR/ REELE BERAN EA
FEFFRBETENAT (2045 1 0ETE
92E7) 0

Capitalisation rate, taking into account the
capitalisation of rental income potential,
nature of properties, prevailing market
condition, which ranged from 3.25% to 4%
2024: 3% t0 3.25%) per annum.

ERER B RERHEUAZERL N2
ZHE RAMERT ENFEE35%E
(20048 * 3%F3.25%) o

The higher the monthly rent, the higher
the fair value, and vice versa.

BEE AArRBELS RZHA

The higher the capitalisation rate, the
lower the fair value, and vice versa.
EXLEdE AARBEE R2K

Mo

The higher the monthly rent, the higher
the fair value, and vice versa.

BHls AARERS R2HA

The higher the capitalisation rate, the
lower the fair value, and vice versa.
EAEEER AAABEED RZF

ﬁﬂ

RMEFER HESAHELEMR-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMSE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. 9% BB Rl

Cost RE
At 1 April 2023 RNBE4RIR 2813516 90,767 473,028
Additions HE - - 3003
Disposals HE - - -
At 31 March 2024 1200438318 2,813,516 476,231
Additions AE - 5,801
Transfer from investment BRELENE (1)

properties (note 14) 8,800 - -
Disposals tE - (22,100) (2,688)
At31 March 2005 R005%3831A 2,822,316 68,667 479,434

Depreciation and impairment {FE& R (E

At T April 2023 #023%46 18 623621 32,904 429,286
Provided for the year EENEG 73,004 2,069 16,458
Eliminated on disposals HERH - - -
At 31 March 2024 2024536318 696,715 35,173 445,744
Provided for the year EENER 73,381 1,867 11,744
Eliminated on disposals HEBHE - (7,763) (2,688)
At 31 March 2025 H#2025%3R318 710,096 29,217 454,800
Carrying amounts REE

At 31 March 2025 2025536318 2,052,220 39,390 24,634
At 31 March 2024 2024536318 2,116,801 55,59% 30,487

293,397 37,150 684 4009503
5501 3088 - 12,760
(5,891) (1539) (641) (8,070)

293,007 328,700
6,726 9,478

(7,87;) (59;)

291,860 337,581

4,014,213
23,149

8,800
(35,984)

4,010,178

262,005 289962 6405 1,647,855
15,402 12,464 195 120457
(5,761) (1539) (641) (1940)

271,646 300,888
13,036 11,322
(7,199) (496)

276,883 311,714

14977 25,867

21,361 2812

1,760,372
112,039
(21,255

1,851,156

2,159,022

254 2053841

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per
annum:

Over the estimated useful lives
of 40 years or the unexpired
terms of the relevant leases,
whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements 10-20%

Hotel properties and
buildings

Furniture, fixtures and 10-20%
equipment

Machinery 10-20%

Motor vehicles 20%

Others 20%

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2221244 HEHRAE]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sra B IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 9% - s Rt @

(continued)

The hotel properties and buildings are located in Macau and
Hong Kong. As the lease payments for land and building
elements, other than those included in note 16, cannot be
allocated reliably, the leases in Macau and Hong Kong are
included in the carrying amounts of the hotel properties and
buildings.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, in
view of the operating profits incurred by gaming and related
operations in Grand Emperor Hotel, the directors of the
Company concluded there was no indication for impairment
on property, plant and equipment in respect of gaming and
related operations in Grand Emperor Hotel.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March
2024, in view of operating profits incurred by the hotel
and related operations in Grand Emperor Hotel as a
result of the recovery in the Macau tourism industry, the
directors of the Company concluded there was indication
for reversal of impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on the Grand Emperor Hotel Properties by
comparing its recoverable amounts to its carrying amounts
in aggregate of HK$533,973,000 as at 31 March 2025
(2024:HKS$580,304,000). No reversal of the impairment loss
was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024. As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024,
the Grand Emperor Hotel Properties comprise property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets in respect
of hotel and related operations with carrying amounts of
HK$425,507,000 (2024:HK$466,687,000) and HK$108,466,000
(2024:HKS113,617,000), respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, in
the view of the operating profits incurred in Inn Hotel, the
directors of the Company concluded there was no indication
for impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets of Inn Hotel.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, in
view of operating losses incurred by The Emperor Hotel, the
directors of the Company performed impairment assessment
of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
of The Emperor Hotel by comparing its recoverable amounts
to its carrying amounts in aggregate of HK$1,360,270,000 as
at 31 March 2025 (2024: HKS$1,396,616,000). No impairment
loss was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2025
and 31 March 2024 as the recoverable amounts of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of The
Emperor Hotel are higher than its carrying amounts.

BIEMERBFIAUNRRFRER -H
Rt REFEHD ZHERER (16
FRiREEFRIN) FEER D EC > 8
RREBZEEF ABEYERIE
FZIREE-

REE202543831H /&20245F3H31
HILFER ERNEEREFEZEFR
RIEMEFZEELEHN  AABTES
RARERYLBEEBERBEAERZ
ME B RRBLEFBEDTR

REF2025%3831H %2024%3831
HIEFER ENHEEREAEE AL
AR EEEE RPIREEERME
ERERF AR TDEETRAHRE R %
BEEEARERBINGTSR  TiEaLt
BEOWEEEEHEER2025%3831H
ZBREE & 533,973,000/ 7T (2024
£ 1 580,304,000/ 7T) EITRET L
REE2025%3831H %2024%3831
BItEEYT &R ESEED - ®
202543831 H K202443831H  #E
RECREYEAIERERBBERSZ
ME-BBRREURGEREESE R
E{E S B %425,507,0005 75 (20244 :
466,687,000 7T) K 108,466,000 7T
(20244 : 113,617,000 7T) ©

REE202543831H /&20245F3H31
HIEFER ENEMEEELLEE
Mo ARTEERRRMEEZYE
WEERREREREEEL EREDN
%0

REE2025%3831H K2024%3831
BEEER ENHEEBRSHEEELR
EEE ARBESTERIEREERES
BEENYE KSR REREAREE
ZzH el EERAEREE (172025583
B31H&+%1,360,270,000/# 75 (2024
£ 1 1,396,616,00087T) ) EIT R ETF
e R B E2025F3831H 2024438
BIHIEFEEY ERDRERE  BAE
ERSAEZYE - MEBRRERER
BEEZJKEISESHEREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

16.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16.(ERESEE

Cost 5% 3
At 1 April 2023 and 20234818 &

31 March 2024 2024%F3H31H 493,515 494,372
Additions nE - 881
Lease expiry AERH S (857)
At 31 March 2025 #2025%3H831H 493,515 494,396
Depreciation and impairment #f & R i (&

At 1 April 2023 2023F481H 92,236 214 92,450
Provided for the year FEREE 16,595 429 17,024
At 31 March 2024 2024438318 108,831 109,474
Provided for the year FERERE 16,596 17,030
Eliminated upon lease expiry T EZI AR H 84 - (857)
At 31 March 2025 #2025%3H831H 125,427 125,647
Carrying amounts IREE

At 31 March 2025 7£2025%3831H 368,088 368,749
At 31 March 2024 2024438318 384,684 214 384,898

Total cash outflow for leases HEZIRERHAE

The Group leases certain leasehold lands and warehouse FEBBEEETHELIHREEFES
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed EEZA-HESOMITIIZEEFH
term from 2 to 25 years (2024: 2 to 25 years). Certain leases of BLEFISE (20245 : 2EFISE) o iR
leasehold lands in Macau are negotiated for an initial term of B ZETFHE LM 2 HAOKERT
25 years with extension options exercisable by the Group. T AHRSE M HAERITHIERE

EEo

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and HERRDORBEERERETHEK
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In BERBETFFEMER AR - 1L & EH
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the kGt A RN RER > K&
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a ERASHANERREESNREE
contract and determines the period for which the contract is M BYHEAR o

enforceable.
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16.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

In addition, the Group owns certain hotel and commercial
properties classified as property, plant and equipment
and investment properties respectively. The Group is the
registered owner of these property interests, including the
underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire these property interests. The
leasehold land components of these owned properties are
not presented separately as the payments made cannot be
allocated reliably.

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the Group assessed
the leasehold lands included in right-of-use assets of Grand
Emperor Hotel together with its respective hotel property
for reversal of impairment by considering their recoverable
amounts, in view of operating profits incurred by the hotel
and related operations in Grand Emperor Hotel as a result
of the recovery in the Macau tourism industry. No reversal
of the impairment loss was recognised for the year ended
31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024. As at 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024, the carrying amount of right-of-use assets
amounting to HK$108,466,000 (2024: HKS113,617,000) was
included in the Grand Emperor Hotel Properties.

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the Group assessed
the leasehold land included in right-of-use assets of The
Emperor Hotel together with its respective hotel property for
impairment by considering its recoverable amount, in view
of operating losses incurred by the hotel. No impairment loss
was recognised on the leasehold land of The Emperor Hotel
for the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sra B IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

16.(FRESEE @

s ZEBONEREETONDES
ME -HRERRBUARRENEZE
EREENE - FEBBZLEFNEED
(BEMEMAAE L) 2EMEAAC
ABEZEYERED BERAXMN—F
BRRIE - AR AR BERI SE D ECPR 7RI »
WZEEEMENEEL ML=
BHEY-

202538313 K20244FE3831H 5 &
MRESIREHE 2 BERBRAESHE
ERMREXEEMEELSE RN K
EELEETKEESEETHITARE
R EEERAEEEZAE I MER
ZEMEEZBEEYEZ BERLD -HE
2025438318 &20245%3831H 145
FE b 4 e 5B R (B 5 18 43 [m] © 72202543
B318%2024%3831 EHAEEE
ZBRE 108,466,000 7T ( 20244 :
113,617,000 7t) st A 2 IR E4HEY)
¥O

12025538310 K%2024%F3H31H &
REEESRBEELECEHE ~&H
KEEHEBZAIWEIZEFEFAR
BEERAEEEZAE L MERHEE
B2 BEEYEZRE RBE2025%3
A31HX%2024%38318 L FEAF =
MHEEHRBEEZHE L tEDREE
E5fE o

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2R 21244 HEHRAE]

Annual Report 2024/2025 ££%§ 1 1 9



—

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

17.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17.E 5 R EMEUTR

Trade receivables B 5 IR 47,709
Less: Impairment allowance MNBx : RERE (12,370)

35,339
Other receivables and prepayments L1 8 WU RR e TR 7R 28,540

63,879
As at 31 March 2025, trade receivables comprise receivables R2025%3831B B EKZE
from contracts with customers and lease receivables of ERBEFRFEHNZRKRAREERE
HK$33,617,000 (2024: HK$47,488,000) and HK$1,722,000 WD B #A33,617,0008 75T (2024
(2024: HKS$1,696,000) respectively. F 1 47,488,000 7T) K& 1,722,0007% 7T

(20244 : 1,696,000 7T) °

As at 1 April 2023, trade receivables from contracts with R2023F4A10  REXREHNZES
customers and lease receivables amounted to HK$32,240,000 & LSRR T 7E B FE WSR3 7l 832,240,000
and HK$721,000 respectively. BT B 721,000 7T
An aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables (net of UTAAEERKRSHRBEREEES
impairment allowance) based on the date of credit granted AR ERABEY 2 E SR (10
or the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is set PR ERER) ZERE DT
out below:

0-30 days 0&30H
31-60 days 31&E60H
61-90 days 61ZE90H
91-180 days 91%180H
Over 180 days 180X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sra B IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

17.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17.ESREMEBEWRR @

(continued)

The Group normally allows credit periods of up to 60 days
to its trade customers, except for certain credit worthy
customers with long term relationship and stable repayment
patterns, where the credit periods are extended to a longer
period.

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HKS$72,000 (2024: HK$13,119,000) which were
past due at the end of the reporting period. Out of the past
due balances, HK$45,000 (2024: HKS$12,970,000) has been
past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default
as the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
balances are still considered recoverable due to long-term/
ongoing relationship or agreed settlement plan with the
customers.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 32(b).

18.PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/SHORT-TERM

BANK DEPOSIT/BANK BALANCES AND
CASH

As at 31 March 2025, pledged bank deposits comprise (i) a
deposit of HK$32,090,000 (2024: HKS$30,811,000) (classified
as non-current asset) and (ii) a deposit of HK$323,000 (2024:
HKS$311,000) (classified as current asset), details of which are
set out in notes 30(b) and (c) respectively. The pledged bank
deposits carry fixed interest rates which ranged from 3.40%
to 3.80% (2024: 3.55% to 4.20%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2025, short-term bank deposit with an
original maturity over 3 months carry interest at fixed
interest rate of 3.70% (2024: fixed interest rate of 4.70%) per
annum.

Bank balances and cash comprise of cash held by the Group,
and bank deposits with an original maturity of 3 months or
less carry interests at prevailing market rate at 0.01% (2024:
0.01%) per annum or at fixed interest rates which ranged
from 2.26% to 3.75% (2024: 1.50% to 4.58%) per annum.

TER-RETHEZERREGCH
ZIEER EETRAERMBAGRREE
BEREANGEERFER KEZFEEH
MR EIE RE — R RAAME -

2025538318 cEEAE 5K
WA IEERmAEEA72,0008 T
(20244 : 13,119,000 7T) = FE W R
RIBEHAREC A ZEAaMEGRT
45,0005 7T (20244 : 12,970,000 7T)
EEHOHRU LB ERIBAEL
IEhEREZERRANER FEM
GHARESEHREENE HitEA
SDEEDAZEEHRMWR AT LUK
@0

B REMEKRRZBETEZFE
A MIEE32(b)

18.BiEMIR{TIERE AR

TEm RITER RS

R2025%E3831H  ERWBITER
B (1) 1FFR32,090,0008 75 (20244 :
30,811,000 7T) (DEAFERSE
E) R (ii)FR323,0008 7T (20244 :
311,000 7) (DEARBEE) » Hit
EDRE M EE30(b) K (c) > BIXIRIE
TEFZREEEMNENFIL0EES.80
[E (20244 : 3.55EF4.20E) 5t B o

2025938318 REIEAA A3 8 UL
EZ BRI ERREEEFNEKIT0E
(2024F - EEEFEA4T0E) st B o

RITEGRESEESERFEZR
EREFEHHAIMEBFUT HIRIT
HIHBEFME0O0LE (20244F : 0.01FE)
REBEEEMNRNF2.26EEI.T5E
(20244 : 1.50EE4.58E) st B 2 4R
TER-

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2R 21244 HEHRAE]

Annual Report 2024/2025 ££%§ 1 2 1



—

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For't

18.

19.

he year ended 31 March 2025 & F2025#3531 HIEFEZE

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/SHORT-TERM 18.BiR#FSRITIEFR5aHASR
BANK DEPOSIT/BANK BALANCES AND TEMSRITHERRRE
CASH (continued) (#)

Included in bank balances and cash are the following RITHRRIREEIETIREMRER
amounts denominated in currencies other than functional ERZEEBMINNERHENSE
currency of the relevant group entities: 2

Macau Pataca (“MOP”) BT (TR 7T)
Renminbi (‘RMB”) AR (TAR%)
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 1985 REMEMSER

Trade payables =RZY i 3NEN 11,776
Construction payables and accruals e TIERIEREE B 24,896
Other payables and accruals H MR R &R 58,073
Accrued staff costs FEEtB T4 28,506

123,251 102,518

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables based on UTAXEERNBREHRZEZAEH
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is set out 2z BR RO ZEREE DT -
below:

0-30 days 0Z30H

31-60 days 31&E60H

61-90 days 61ZE90H

Other payables and accruals mainly include accrued HtEMMAEFAERTEGCREEY
commission expenses in gaming operation, other accrued EBZERHAEER HMEAEAR
expenses and other deposits. Hihigs o
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122  sonuelreport 2024/200555%



20.AMOUNT(S) DUE TO FELLOW

SUBSIDIARIES/A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY

The amounts are due to subsidiaries of Emperor
International, which are unsecured and interest-free.
Included in the amounts, a total of HK$13,608,000 (2024:
HKS$6,367,000) is repayable on demand, trade in nature and
aged ranging from 30 days to 180 days (2024: within 30 days)
based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period, and
the remaining HK$117,978,000 (2024: Nil) being the balance
of consideration payable for the acquisition of investment
properties (see note 22) is repayable after its completion
date by 7 equal quarterly installments and therefore,
HKS$94,382,000 and HKS$23,596,000 are classified as current
and non-current liabilities at the end of the reporting period
respectively.

21.AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS OF SUBSIDIARIES

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the amounts
represent unsecured and interest-free shareholders’
loans due to non-controlling interests of Luck United
Holdings Limited (“Luck United”) and Able Elegant
Development Limited (“Able Elegant”). In accordance with
the contractual terms of the shareholders’ agreements,
the amounts are to be repaid from surplus fund, which
represents cash available in Luck United and its subsidiaries,
and Able Elegant, after paying all operating expenses and
payables, including but not limited to bank loans and third
party loans which are due for repayment together with the
accrued interest.

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the respective
management of Luck United and Able Elegant determined
that Luck United and Able Elegant have adequate available
surplus fund for the repayment of all principal amounts
outstanding to its non-controlling shareholders. Accordingly,
the amounts are shown as current liabilities as at 31 March
2025 and 31 March 2024 and repayable on demand.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sra B IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

20.RFARMBAE,—HE

RABATRIE
ZENBEBAXREEERETHEA
BAZRE NAERFEREE - Ho
BIEE 13,608,000 7T (20244 :
6,367,000 7) BEEREE -BE
SHEERNBREHAENRZEZHEHZ
IRES /T F30HZE180H (20244 : 30
BHA) > MeR F117,978,0005 7T (2024
FE) AKBREYMEZELSKER
H(RMH22) B EERBERZRS
ERTEAEEESZ {3 > FItb » 94,382,000
76 5%23,596,0008 T IR &S HAK 93 A1) 51
EREBaBERIFRBEE-

21.RMB 2B 2 IFiER

FRIE

720253831 H /&2024F3H831H >
ZEMBEIE R Luck United Holdings
Limited (TLuck United) RREEZRE
BRAE (TER)) ZEERERNE
KRR ERRER -RERRIGEZ
BB ZERERUARKESE
BoBIRE®ThIELuck United R E I
BARMUKRERNZNMAEKERX
REMR (BFEEFRBREAEEZR
TERRE=ZAEREREHFR) %
ZAEARE-

720253831 H K%2024%F3831H »
Luck United R EBRZEZEEER A
Luck United M EEHBE CHATHARE
HRETCEEREEERREZFAAESR
FoHIb > ZRIEMR2025F38318 K
202438318 AR B ERIARE
EREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMSE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

22.ACQUISITION OF INVESTMENT

22 WEBIe T %

PROPERTIES

On 19 July 2024, Poly Keen International Limited (“Poly
Keen”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, completed the acquisition of a property situated
at Nos. 20-26 Old Bailey Street & No. 11 Chancery Lane,
Central, Hong Kong through the acquisition of the entire
interest of Star Omen Limited and its subsidiaries from a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Emperor International at
an agreed value of HK$700,000,000 by both parties. Pursuant
to the sale and purchase agreement, Poly Keen paid a cash
consideration of HK$500,000,000 to the direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Emperor International at the completion date
and the balance of the consideration would be settled
by 7 equal quarterly instalments. The Group elected to
apply the optional concentration test in accordance with
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations and concluded that the
apartment building is considered a single identifiable asset.
Consequently, the Group determined that substantially all
of the fair value of the gross assets (excluding cash and cash
equivalents) acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset and concluded that the acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business.

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition
were as follows:

REME

Investment properties

20245 7H19H » AR B — BB IE
2EHBATIPoly Keen International
Limited (TPoly Keen)) BifdEHEE
Mz EZE2EME AR WEStar Omen
Limited R EMB AT N2 # >
TERWE—IEAREBRIRRERN
20-26REBERIIFRANYE &
B EBEAT00,000,0008 7T ° iR
BEHE > Poly Keen 52 HHAE %
HEEREEZENBARZMRE
fX1&500,000,000#8 7t > R FREH F
A TtHETEZ (T -AEEEER
BEBMBRSERNEIREFESHIE
BEEUEPENR ERARBKIE
BRE—THNEE- AL AERE
EFMWBEEE (FEERERRESE
BY) 2 AFEEES EI9EPRE—
AR B E R WaR A& P IN B RYE B &
BEMEHIE—HER-

RBEEMFRIEERERUT

700,000

Trade and other receivables B 5 R H fth FE UK

Bank balances and cash RITHEEGRRIRE

Trade and other payables B 5 KR H AR

Consideration on the acquisition R R B 665,170

Less: cash consideration paid

W BEXRENE (500,000)

Net consideration payable upon completion
(included in amount(s) due to fellow
subsidiaries/a fellow subsidiary)

R BN ERE
GtARRRMEBAR,
—BRZRMEQBRIE)

165,170

Net cash outflows arising on acquisition of Star Omen

Limited and its subsidiaries:

Consideration paid in cash

Consideration paid to a fellow subsidiary
subsequent to the acquisition

Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired

U B&Star Omen LimitedREM B AT
EXNFRERN

MR NE

KEEZNT—BRARKEAR
BRE

W WBRERFEEEEY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

23.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 23.HEMEBAE

On 31 October 2024, Poly Keen entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of the entire equity interests in Bausman Limited
and its subsidiary (“Bausman Group”), indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiaries of the Company engaged in the business
of property investment, and all loans due by Bausman Group
to Poly Keen at a total consideration of HK$271,232,000.
The disposal was completed on 16 December 2024. Upon its
completion, Bausman Group ceased to be subsidiaries of the
Company.

Assets and liabilities of Bausman Group derecognised at the
date of disposal are as follows:

Investment properties KREYE
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

Loans from Poly Keen

2024 108B31H > Poly Keenfl—
EBIAFE =R UEEmMEMEE
MBausman Limited R EME AT
(TBausmanfE @) » AA A F MR
F2EMBRABE  WEMERKREER)
M2 ERAERD > U KkBausmanfk &
@R Poly KeenMFRFEER  BKEA
271,232,000/ HEFEE 12024
F12H16HEM - iR 5EM % > Bausman
ERFBAXRTINMHEBAE

RHEEZFEERKIEEEBausmans
BrzEEREBEUNT:

275,000

B 5 R EH MR 193
B 5 REMEMR (3,961)
Poly Keenz &5k

(432,076)

Less: Assignment of loans

o EERE T

(160,844)
432,076

271,232

Gain or loss on disposal was calculated as follows:

Consideration received 2 KE
Net liabilities disposed of FrtEa®EE
Assignment of loans EHREM

HEFENK@EHBRFFNT -

271,232
160,844
(432,076)

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received

HEFHEEEZRERAZFE
BlREAE

271,232
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMSE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

24,

126

LEASE LIABILITIES

BAEE&R:

Lease liabilities payable:

Within one year 1R

Within a period of more than one year IFEU EEBRBE2F
but not more than two years

Within a period of more than two years 2 EBRBIBSE
but not more than five years

Within a period of more than five years 5&E E

20 HERBR

Less: Amount due for settlement within
12 months shown under current
liabilities

B IIAREN &AL
RI2ERREER
HHEZEM

Amount due for settlement after 12 months FIAJERBI & &I A
RI2ERBEEGEEZ

shown under non-current liabilities

S L]

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities is 3.50% (2024: 3.50%) per annum.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

Lease liabilities of HKS27,410,000 (2024: HKS26,889,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$19,548,000
(2024: HKS19,954,000) as at 31 March 2025. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Except for the leasehold land and related assets
recognised in Macau, as set out in note 30(a), other related
leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

As at 31 March 2025, the amount of lease liabilities included
in a lease which is secured by a rental deposit with carrying
value of HKS78,000 (2024: HKS76,000).

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2221244 HEHRAE]
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FERREEaENMETIIEEMER
FEFZEA3.50% (20244 : 3.50%) °

HIEE/MMRHIHZY
2025538310 ERBEEARE
27,410,000 7T (20244 : 26,889,000
B 7o) BIAEREE A E E19,548,0008 T
(20244 : 19,954,000 7T) - FHE W&
BRHBEAREBZHESEZERER
G > b 4 B AN 4E R 32 5% o BRE 5E30(a)FR
HPNRMEINEE I REEEE
Sh Ht R EE ERSREGEN
Ko

R20253R31R - HEA RS HEE
A—IEBE > HUEREET8,0008 T
(2024% : 76,0008 7t) 2FAEHEF
o



e MBRRMSE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

25.DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets
recognised and movements thereon during the year:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TAXEERRDZ TRIEERE (&

At 1 April 2023
Charge to profit or loss

R2023E4B1H (62,270)
KRR (3,758)

1#20243831H (66,028)
R (08 3t A (2,850)

1#202543A31R (68,878)

At 31 March 2024
(Charge) credit to profit or loss

At 31 March 2025

Note: The Macau Tax Authority granted a concessionary deduction to
Grand Emperor Entertainment & Hotel (Macau) Limited (“Grand
Emperor Entertainment”), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company incorporated in Macau, to claim
deduction of depreciation allowance for certain of its property,
plant and equipment for tax purpose in an accelerated pattern
over a period which is half of the expected useful lives of the
property, plant and equipment and such a concession ended on 31
December 2013. Out of the deferred tax liability of HK$58,548,000
(2024: HK$55,185,000), an amount of HK$20,530,000 (2024:
HK$21,720,000) has been recognised in respect of the accelerated
tax depreciation of those property, plant and equipment related to
the concession.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial Fposition, deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset for the temporary differences
arising from the same group entity and the same tax
authority.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had unused tax losses of
HKS$1,012,700,000 (2024: HKS794,132,000) available for
offset against future profits. Deferred tax asset is recognised
in respect of HKS$286,359,000 (2024: HKS$370,727,000) of
such loss. No deferred tax asset is recognised in respect
of the remaining tax losses of HKS$726,341,000 (2024:
HKS$423,405,000) due to unpredictability of future profit
streams. The Group’s unrecognised tax losses might be
carried forward indefinitely, except for an amount of
HKS$36,364,000 (2024: HKS36,364,000) which will expire in 3
years from the year of assessment.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
deductible temporary differences of HK$12,351,000 (2024:
HK$238,407,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is
not probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

11,457 (60,279) 62,357 (48,735)
(614) (1,351) (8,742) (14,465)

10,843 (61,630) 53,615 (63,200)
(513) 7,082 (9,715) (6,036)

10,330 (54,588) 43,900 (69,236)

Kzt : BFAMIEBPIEE AT IR
UZEEBEERERB AT R EREE
[E CEM) BIRAR (M52R8 HER
M) BEF—EBEEEHRE BEET
Y BB RREZIBAERESER
o MUINEREMRIEmM S Z W %
BRREZIFERRIE ARERER
2013F12B31FK I -RIELERIBEE R
58,548,000 7T ( 20244F : 55,185,000
7T) P BREEEEM I ME  HE K
RE 2 NRM BT EREER20,530,000%8
76 (20244E : 21,720,000 7T) ©

EVGE M BRI RM S IEERE
BEEREBEMRA—SEBERBRE—

BWEAMESE 2 ERMEEEARKN -
FR2025F3B31H  A"EEBEXRETA
MIEE5I81,012,700,0008 T (2024
F1794,132,0008 7T) A F Lk
KimF o H sz E5#E 286,359,000
#IT (20244 : 370,727,000 T) 2
BRARBBELERBEE - ERRREF
KEZAAEAM BFTZ2RIEEIE
726,341,0003 7 (20244F : 423,405,000
B) UEEDARERESE -

EEARBIBRIEE IS E RS
EMATREEEIFERNIHAZRIE
36 ; 6,364,000

dl

) A
M ER A LU SH FEERIRIE ) > b A&
A A WL e P 30 0RE B 1 2 R R SR IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

26.SHARE CAPITAL 26.k8 %

Ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 each ~ &B&EE0.0001B T LiBR

Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and  FA2023F4818
31 March 2025 20243831 K
2025438310 2,000,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITLHE :
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 2023F4818 ~
31 March 2025 2024%F3H31H K
2025%3H31H 1,188,490,983
27.SHARE OPTION SCHEME 27. 08B REETHEY
The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share AT F2023F 98 19 H R 40 BB B 5t
Option Scheme”) on 19 September 2023. 2 (THSResEstEL) -
The major terms of the Share Option Scheme are BRI HEST8 Z TEMRRBIANT ¢
summarised as follows:
(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme (a) BRRFEEIZEB

To enable the Group to attract, retain and motivate EAEERERS B REBEA

talented participants to strive for future developments BZ2HEEUERTERZRR

and expansion of the Group. BRKRFER
(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme (b)iRREBZEHE

Eligible participants include: AERZHEHEGE

() employee participants including employees (i) BEZEE AFEEARTRHE
(whether full time or part time), executive director MEABNES (Fm2Rm
and non-executive director of the Company and its ) BITEERIFNITE
subsidiaries; %,

(i) related entity participants (i.e. directors and (i) EMBR2HEE AIXARE
employees of the holding companies, fellow g AE] S ERABWE RMHE
subsidiaries of the holding companies or associated REGBERTANESRE
companies of the Company); and 8); &
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27.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

(continued)
(iii) service providers, including advisor, consultant,

business or joint venture partner, contractor, a
person or entity that engages in construction,
renovation contractor, property agency, design and/
or project development work, to any member of
the Group, including any other service providers as
required in the ordinary course of business of the
Group.

(c) Total number of shares available for

issue under the Share Option Scheme
No option has been granted since the adoption date of
the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this report, 118,849,098 shares
and 59,424,549 shares under the scheme mandate
limit and the service provider sublimit of the Share
Options Scheme respectively were available for issue,
representing 10% and 5% of the total number of
issued shares (excluding treasury shares, if any) of the
Company respectively.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each eligible
participant under the Share Option
Scheme

(i)

Not exceed 1% of the total number of issued
shares of the Company (excluding any options
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme) in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant unless otherwise
approved by the shareholders.

Options granted to substantial shareholders
or independent non-executive directors of the
Company or their respective associates in the
12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant representing in aggregate more
than 0.1% of the total number of issued shares of
the Company on the date of such grant must be
approved by the shareholders of the Company.
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27.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 27.&&&%"‘;‘] (#)
(e) Period within which the option may be (e) BRRIEFIBIIETIREAT
exercised by the grantee under the Share TERERRE Z AR

Option Scheme

At any time from the date of grant of the option to such RELHEREDHEEESgHE

a date determined by the board of directors but in any EZBRBEARNZEAERE - ER

event not exceeding 10 years from the date of grant. FEEERT > AFEBER H HHAE

sH10& -
(f) Vesting period of options granted under (f) BRRERIETERL Z
the Share Option Scheme iRz 5B

Not less than 12 months. A shorter vesting period of AELRI2E B - IR ES BI/Y

less than 12 months may be granted to employee HEBRT EFGNHFMEES

participants at the discretion of the board of directors or (RERME) AINEREES A

the remuneration committee (as the case may be) under ERFORIEBNERIGEEBHR

specific circumstances in the Share Option Scheme.
(g) () Amount payable on application or acceptance of (g) () ersBTRizmBERIERFTAM
the option: HK$1.00; THIFREE : 1.008 7T ;

(i) The period within which payments or calls must (i) @AZETE Al BE 1 #Rak i@ # F =
or may be made: Within 28 days from the date of ZHAMR : R H BHAES28H
grant; and A &

(iii) Period within which loans for such purposes of the (i) ETRLBENERABAENE
payments or calls must be repaid: Not applicable. MEEHAR : REA-

(h) Basis for determining the exercise price (hEEfTEEZEE

The exercise price is determined by the board of TEENHESEEE  HAEE

directors and will not be less than the highest of (a) RTI&RSE (a)RIRE BEAER

the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock RS HBRERMTHNRAB KRS

Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant; B b)RMIUBIZERERE B

(b) the average closing price of the shares as stated in AISEZEXHEMRESHRER

the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five PRy U E ; R(c)RME

business days immediately preceding the date of grant; =

and (c) the nominal value of a share.

(i) The remaining life of the Share Option (i) BB RERT B ZER THAIR

Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for fEREStEIEEEM B (B12023

a period of 10 years commencing on its effective date, F10A17H) EF10FRBERKRE

being 17 October 2023. 2o
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28.LEGAL RESERVE

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations in the
Macau Special Administrative Region, certain subsidiaries
of the Company are required to set aside 25% of their profit
for the year to a legal reserve until the legal reserve has
reached 50% of their registered capital. During the year
ended 31 March 2025, the Group had transferred nil (2024:
HKS$36,000) from retained profits to the legal reserve of
those subsidiaries to reach 50% of their respective registered
capital.

29.NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Included in non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2025
was a deemed contribution by non-controlling interests of
HKS$56,005,000 (2024: HKS$56,005,000) on certain interest-
free loans from the non-controlling interests of a subsidiary
which were contributed in proportion to their shareholdings.

30.PLEDGE OF ASSETS

(@) As at 31 March 2025, certain assets of the Group were
pledged to a bank for the purpose of securing a banking
facility by the bank to the Group. The carrying values of
these assets at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

Hotel property BEIEE
Investment properties KREME
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Others (Note) Hith (B1aE)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR PR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

2875 E (1

BFIFRITHE 2 ABRE R R AR BIET
B ARBZETHEBRABDAREE
B Z 250N EERME  BEEAER
BEEHFAMEARZSONALE-KEE
20255 3A31H L FER > NERE L E
(20244 : 36,000 7t) BIREG G E
BEZSWBABNEEME  WEER
RESBFEMEARRIS0% -

29 JERERR RS

2025538310 FEREDEIER
E 2 JE 2 IR 1 25 HH B TR IE56,005,0007
7t (20244 : 56,005,000 7T) - BRAE
BENnA—BHBABIFERERERH
RELEBIFFR itz ETREER

30. B ER M

(a) H2025F3A31H  AEBETE
EBERFIRIT FARITRTE
EEZIRITREZIRR -NKREH
ROZFEENREENT :

225,984 226,268
91,700 110,000
220,615 230,207
44,852 33,638

583,151 600,113

Note: Others represent floating charges over certain other assets
of the Group including principally property, plant and
equipment (other than hotel property), inventories, trade and
other receivables and bank balances.

Mt AfismAEBETEMEE (FE
ABEEMEDSNIE BB R R
B FE B REMEKRRKRIRT
KEER) 2T BRI o
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30.

31.

132

PLEDGE OF ASSETS (continued)

(b) As at 31 March 2025, the Group pledged a bank
deposit of HK$32,090,000 (2024: HKS$30,811,000) to a
bank for obtaining a bank facility granted to a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. The bank facility
entails a bank guarantee amounting to MOP30,900,000
(equivalent to HKS$30,000,000) for the period up to 31
December 2026, which is made in favour of SJM for the
Group’s fulfilment of all its obligations of provision of
services in the casino by the Group to SJM, as stipulated
under a service agreement entered into between the
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and SJM on
30 December 2022 (as supplemented by an addendum
dated 26 April 2023).

(c) As at 31 March 2025, the Group also pledged a bank
deposit of HK$323,000 (2024: HKS$311,000) to a bank to
secure for the use of ferry ticket equipment provided by
a third party to the Group.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the amounts due to non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries and lease liabilities as disclosed in notes 21 and
24 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, share premium, retained profits and other
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associates with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs
as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt.
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32.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

TRHRE

Financial assets

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

32.&#MTH
(a) &R T AZERN

Amortised cost: B A
Trade and other receivables B 5 REAMEKRR 53,381 67,222
Pledged bank deposits EEFEITER 32,413 31,122
Short-term bank deposit EHRIRITERR 14,540 14,900
Bank balances and cash RITHEBFRKRIRE 525,943 599,790
626,277 713,034
Financial liabilities ERAHE
Amortised cost: BN
Trade and other payables B 5 R HEHMER 41,218
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  XEI&M B AT HIE 131,586
Amounts due to non-controlling KM B R B Z IEER
interests of subsidiaries TR IE 39,523

212,327

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments are listed in
above table. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management of the Group
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2R 21244 HEHRAE]
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32.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

3.8 T H®
(b)MHFERBEERETE RIE

134

and policies (continued) (#
Market risk a5 B
Foreign currency risk S L e

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement in
foreign currency exchange rate will affect the Group’s
financial results and its cash flows. Several subsidiaries
of the Company have foreign currency sales and
purchases, but the management of the Group considers
the amount of foreign currency sales and purchases is
insignificant. The management of the Group considers
the Group is not exposed to significant foreign currency
risk in relation to transactions denominated in MOP
and United States Dollar (“USD”). Exposures on
balances which are denominated in MOP and USD in
group entities with HKS as functional currency are not
considered significant as MOP is pegged to HKS which
is also effectively pegged to USD under the pegged
exchange system in Hong Kong.

The Group has certain bank balances which are
denominated in RMB (being currency other than the
functional currency of the relevant group entities)
amounting to HK$216,000 (2024: HK$150,000). The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

The following details the Group’s sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change of 5% (2024: 5%) in
exchange rate of RMB against HKS, while all other
variables are held constant. 5% (2024: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to the key management personnel and
represents the management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign currency rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% (2024: 5%) change in foreign currency
rate. For a 5% (2024: 5%) strengthening in RMB against
HKS, the Group’s (loss) profit for the year would be
decreased by HK$11,000 (2024: increased by HKS8,000).
If RMB had been weakened against HKS in an opposite
magnitude and all other variables were held constant,
the potential effect on the results would be equal and
opposite.
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32.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate pledged bank deposits, short-term
bank deposit, fixed-rate bank balances included in bank
balances and lease liabilities as at 31 March 2025. The
Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to its variable-rate bank balances. The Group
currently does not have policy on cash flow hedges
of interest rate risk. However, the management of the
Group monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate risk should the need
arise.

The Group’s sensitivity to cash flow interest rate risk
has been determined based on the exposure to interest
rate for those variable-rate bank balances at the end of
the reporting period and management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in the interest rate
assuming that it took place at the beginning of each year
and was held constant throughout the respective year.

If interest rate for the variable-rate bank balances had
been 10 basis points (2024: 10 basis points) higher and
all other variables were held constant, the potential
effect on (loss) profit for the year is as follows:

Decrease in loss for the year (2024:  FEFERLD (20245 -

FEEFIEM)

increase in profit for the year):
- Variable-rate bank balances

—F A RRITHEER
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2025 2024
HK$°000 HKS$ 000
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53

If interest rates had been lower in an opposite
magnitude and all other variables were held constant,
the potential effect on the results would be equal and
opposite.

HAEREFEERSEEREMPAA
BERFAE HERBERRF
RERZEBEZE-
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32.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) .EZFMIA®w
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b)MHFERBEERETE RIE

and policies (continued) (&
Credit risk management and impairment EERBREERREFE
assessment
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which NEFEHRHEFAREBREMAERR
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to ﬂbﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘“ﬁ'ﬁﬂg%xﬁlﬂiﬁlﬁi
discharge obligations by the counterparties at the end ﬁﬁ‘“?ﬁ’;"&ﬂ’] SEERETRE
of reporting period are arising from the carrying amount RE ﬁﬁ‘“ﬂkﬂ?ﬁﬁﬂ/‘r\ﬂ’ﬁfﬁ e
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in BREMEENIREIE-

136

the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has concentration of credit risk at 74% (2024:
53%) of the total trade receivables due from the Group’s
largest customer.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model upon application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances
individually. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, lifetime ECL of
HKS$1,669,000 was recovered for trade receivables from
individual gaming patrons with an aggregate gross
carrying amount of HK$21,999,000 and lifetime ECL of
HKS7,430,000 for trade receivables from an individual
gaming patron was written off.

The management of the Group has also assessed all
available forward looking information, including but
not limited to the economic outlook and subsequent
settlement of these receivables. As at 31 March 2025,
impairment allowance with an aggregate balance
of HKS$12,370,000 (2024: HKS21,469,000) represents
individually credit-impaired trade receivables
from individual gaming patrons with an aggregate
gross carrying amount of HK$12,370,000 (2024:
HKS$34,369,000) as the management of the Group
considered the outstanding balances from these gaming
patrons were uncollectible.
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32.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)
Credit risk management and impairment

assessment (continued)

Lifetime ECL for the remaining trade receivables and
lease receivables with an aggregate gross carrying
amount of HKS$35,339,000 (2024: HK$36,284,000) was
insignificant and thus not provided by the Group due
to the low probability of default of those debtors based
on historical credit loss experience. The management
of the Group has also assessed all available forward
looking information, including but not limited to the
economic outlook and subsequent settlement of these
customers, and concluded that the credit risk inherent
in the Group’s outstanding trade receivables and lease
receivables is insignificant.

The following table shows the movements in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for credit-impaired trade
receivables from individual gaming patrons under the
simplified approach:

At 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024

Allowance of trade receivables reversed
during the year

Write-off b

120234818 &
2024438318 21,469
FEREDZ B 5 BN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

3.8 T H®
(b)HFERBEREETEREE

(#)
EEEEEERBEFE ()

B EREAEE 435,339,000 7T
(2024% : 36,284,000 7T) BIF
HREZEBURREAERKRRZE
HRREEERTEAEAR BHItE
EEI TR - IR IRBIBRE(E
BEERER ZFR/BAENZH
BEMRE AEBERETENE
FRE R ERMATEIEER > 21EE
FREEEARKRZEERHERE
HERBR  BRAEEEZRER
BEZRBRKBERBRZEER
R BRI R EK ©

TRHIIREG S S EZERIL
BrEEEREERHEERE S B
MNEHRAEEERES

(1,669)

(7,430)

At 31 March 2025

122025838311 12,370

Note: As at 31 March 2025, lifetime ECL for trade receivables from
individual gaming patrons on an aggregate gross carrying
amount of HK$12,370,000 (2024: HK$34,369,000) was
HK$12,370,000 (2024: HKS$21,469,000) as the management
of the Group considered the individual gaming patrons were
credit-impaired.

Wi 7202543831 MR AEEE

BEERABEINEEERBEER

&> A H4EREEA12,370,0008 T

(20244 : 34,369,000 7T) 23k

BENEEERZEZEERZ2

HATEHRE B 518 412,370,000 T
(20244F : 21,469,000 7T) ©
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 2.TMITH®
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b)EREEIRETE RIE
and policies (continued) (4

138

Credit risk management and impairment

assessment (continued)

For the pledged bank deposits, short-term bank
deposit and bank balances, impairment allowance
was insignificant and thus was not provided since the
management of the Group considers the probability
of default is negligible as such deposits are placed in
reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies, and have low credit
risk.

For the other receivables, impairment allowance was
insignificant and thus was not provided since the
management of the Group considers the probability of
default is minimal after assessing the counterparties’
financial background and creditability.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
of the Group to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management of the Group monitors the utilisation of
banking facilities and ensures compliance with loan
covenants, if any.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has no available banking
facility (2024: available unutilised banking facility of
HKS$419,650,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and lease
liabilities that will result in cash outflow. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities and lease liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

32.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 32.&#MTH @
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b)BBRABEET S RIKE
and policies (continued) (#)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBEEmE (B)
Liguidity tables HEBEZ R

2025 20258
Trade and other payables ERREMERS 41,218 41,218 41,218
Amounts due to fellow REAHEARTE
subsidiaries 131,586 131,586 131,586
Amounts due tonon-controlling R BAR ZF R
interests of subsidiaries EEHNE 39,523 39,523 39,523
Sub-total It 1,307 : W3 M3
Lease liabilities HEER d 39 12,125 36,652 27,410
212,366 12,125 248,979 239,137
2024 W04E
Trade and other payables BEREMENT - 39,309 - - - - 39,309 39,309
Amounts due to fellow REAMEBARTE
subsidiaries - 6,367 - - - - 6,367 6,367
Amounts due tonon-controlling R BAT 2R
interests of subsidiaries EHETE - 39523 - - - - 39,523 39523
Sub-total gt 85,199 - - - - 85,199 85,199
Lease liabilities EaR 350 38 925 114 11,891 24,059 37,027 26,889

85,237 925 114 11,891 24,059 122,226 112,088
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

33.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES BMEEBFREEZAR

ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES HER

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRFJAEEMREZTHMEENE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and REs AiEREKRIFREEFH -ME
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities EEFMELENERNNEEEREERERD
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will RYKRKFPEREFNAEREZSR
be classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash ERERPOEAMEZTTFANIR
flows used in financing activities. ERENAR-

At 1 April 2023
Interest accrued
Financing net cash outflow

At 31 March 2024

New lease entered
Dividend declared

Interest accrued

Financing net cash outflow

At 31 March 2025

12023F4A81H - 39,523 21,246 - 66,769
fEstF 2 - - 948 - 948
HERE R PEHE - - (1,305) - (1,305)
1202438318 66,412
MIIHEE - 881
BERRE 17,827 17,827
FEstFIS = 1,016
MERE AL FHE (17,827) (19,203)
12025%3A31H = 66,933
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

34.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 4.8 iKiE

PAE B RRBEEITN

Contracted for but not provided in the

consolidated financial statements, BRRGEMHBRERF
net of amounts paid, in respect of BB (NREN &)
property, plant and equipment
35.0PERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 5. S HEKIE
The Group as lessor TEEEARAA

Operating lease rentals received and FEARBREMEE KK
receivable for the year in respect of Rz KEHEHSE
investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, minimum lease payments RIBEHER BWHE 2 REHEERIE
receivable on leases are as follows: mE:

Within one year

In the second year F2E

In the third year F3F

In the fourth year FAE

Certain premises in the Group’s investment properties TEBRZREVERNEETYEEE
have committed tenants for the lease terms ranging from 3 8 R &R > FHERA F3ME B =54 (2024
months to 5 years (2024: 3 months to 5 years) and the rentals FI3MEABESEF) AL -MAEHEE
are pre-determined and fixed. BERASETEERE

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 221344 HEHRAE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

36.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36.FES XS
(a) Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated (a) MEEHGEEVTBREAEMEERR
financial statements, during the year, the Group had the WEBEEIN REAEE  XEBTE
following significant transactions with related parties: HERETTIEARRS

Food and beverage sales to related MHEAEATRRARZRKEBAR
companies and fellow subsidiaries  $§& & &k
(i) Hotel room income from related MAERABKRERNB AR
companies and fellow subsidiaries  URBGEEZ R U A
(iii) Professional service fee to a related A—RIREABTD X NHEE

company AR#% & R

(iv) Purchase of property, plant and MRAEARRRARWE AR
equipment and merchandising BB B RE
goods from related companies R&m

and fellow subsidiaries
(v) Reimbursement of administrative  {E{tE &M B AT Frx

expenses to fellow subsidiaries ZITHRAEX

(vi) Rental income from a related ) — 1 A i A B R FE &
company A

(vii) Secretarial fee to a related company A—RBRAAT—RES
controlled by a director of the EHZzEERBE M
Company MWE R &

Note: Except for item (vii), the above related companies and st BREE (vii) BN ERBAEAT KA
fellow subsidiaries are controlled by the relevant private AMBATHRGELIEAR AR
discretionary trusts of which Dr. Yeung is the founder and MERTAZEBMBLANBETE
settlor. il o

(b) The key management personnel of the Company (b) ZABIZEHREEBABARRT
are the directors of the Company. The details of the ZEZ-RNREZNAMEHAES
remunerations paid to them relating to short-term B Z F BN E B E A MIEEL0

employee benefits are set out in note 10.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

37.FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 3SN.HATIZHEEE
COMPANY
The financial information of the Company as at 31 March AT 2025%3831H%20244%38
2025 and 31 March 2024 is as follows: JIHZHEERANT !

Non-current assets
Investment in a subsidiary
Amount due from a subsidiary

IERBEE
R—ERBARZKEAE
FEW— M B A B R IE

860,318 715,130
460,766 503,804

1,321,084 1,218,934

Current assets
Prepayments
Amount due from a subsidiary
Bank balances and cash

MBEE
SEINEN
FEW — R B A B - IR
IRITHEER AR E

312 981
69,671 69,026
28,777 119,260

98,760 189,267

Current liability mENEE
Other payables H{hFE (4K 547
Net current assets MENEE R 98,213 188,529
Net assets BEEFRE 1,419,297 1,407,463
Capital and reserves BARRK#E
Share capital &N 119 119
Reserves (Note) & (Ha2) 1,419,178 1,407,344
Total equity Wt 4 RE 1,419,297 1,407,463
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

37.FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 3N BRI ZHMTEER =
COMPANY (continued)
Note: W

At 1 April 2023 %2023%48 18 436,765 679 935,127 1,372,571
Profit and total comprehensive FEGMNREEWRELE
income for the year - - 34,773 34,773
At 31 March 2024 12024438318 436,765 969,900 1,407,344
Profit and total comprehensive FEGMNREERDELE
income for the year - 29,661 29,661
2024 final dividend paid B 420245 K HAAR B - (17,827) (17,827)
At 31 March 2025 12025438311 436,765 981,734 1,419,178
38.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 38.MBAE 1
(a) General information of subsidiaries (a)fiBam—REH
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company AT 2025%F3H831H %2024
as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 are as follows: FIAHZEEMB AT FEN
T

Able Charm International Hong Kong HKS1
Investment Limited g LR
HEEREERRAT

N/A  Property investment
TER WERE

Able Elegant Hong Kong HK$134,285 78.51 Provision of catering services
B ] 13428587t RUERRS

Acute Rise Limited British Virgin Islands ~ USS1 80.00 Investment holding
REERAF HERUHE IESH RERR

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 2221244 HEHRAE]
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Ascent Progress Limited
REARAF

Asian Glory Limited
SHRBERAR

Beyond Virtue Limited

Dickworth Limited

Emperor Hotel Management
Services (HK) Limited

HEFEEEERS (BA)
ERAR

Emperor Hotel Management
Services (Macau) Limited

HEEEEERE (2M)
ERAR

Emperor Hotel Management
Limited
HEBEEERRAT

Grand Emperor
Entertainment
HEREEE R

Macau
ol

Macau
ol

British Virgin Islands
HERLHEE
British Virgin Islands

EREYES

Hong Kong
&3

Macau
ol

Hong Kong

S

Macau
ol

38.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) General information of subsidiaries
(continued)

MOP25,000
25,000:2F9 7%

MOP25,000
25,000:2F9 7%

USS1
e
USS1

e

HKS1
1B7

MOP25,000
25,000:2F9 7%

HKS2

2B

MOP500,000
500,000:2F 70

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

38.MIB AT @

(a) BT —REE @

100.00

80.00

80.00

80.00

100.00

100.00

80.00

80.00

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited 221344 HEHRAE)
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Provision of management
services for hotels (2024
inactive)

REEEEERY
(2024 . ®iEH)

Property holding
BENE

Hotel entertainment (2024:
Investment holding)
TBERL Q045  HBER)

Hotel entertainment
BIE R4

Provision of management
services for hotel and
leasing apartments

REBEEREEAEERE
BB

Inactive (2024: provision of
management services for
hotels)

BIED (20245 | REBE
BRERH)

Provision of leasing
apartments
RUBAERE

Provision of hotel and
catering services
TRAERE R R EAR

145



—

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

38.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38.MfiB 2 B:¥18 @
(a) General information of subsidiaries (a) B am—REH @

(continued)

Inn Hotel Macau Limited MOP100,000 Provision of hotel and

RPREBERRAR R 100,000 7% catering services
RAEE KA SRS
Luck United British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 80.00 Investment holding
HERLHE 10,000%7 REzrk
Mori Investments Limited Hong Kong HKS2 80.00 Property holding
L BT BENE
MORI MORI Serviced Hong Kong HKS1 80.00 Provision of leasing
Apartments Limited &# 1E7R apartments
RUBAERE
Motive Drive Limited Hong Kong HK$100 80.00 Property holding
HZRBERAT L 100%7 BENE
Oceanic Leader Investments  British Virgin Islands ~ USS1 100.00 Investment holding
Limited HERLHE IESH REzrk
Parkmost Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 80.00 Property holding
BRXERAR &# (2024: HK$100) HENE
10,000% 75

(20244 : 10037T)

Poly Keen British Virgin Islands ~ USS1 80.00 Investment holding
HERLHE IESH REzrk

Quick Gain Investments British Virgin Islands ~ USS1 100.00 Investment holding
Limited HERLHE IESH REzrk

Right Achieve Limited British Virgin Islands ~ USS1 80.00 Investment holding
ERBRAF" HERLHE IESH REzrk
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

38.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38.Mfi B 2 F:¥18 @
(a) General information of subsidiaries (a)fIBAR—KEH @

(continued)

80.00 Hotel entertainment (2024
Investment holding)
TBERL Q045  HBER)

Sky Warrior Holdings Limited ~ British Virgin Islands ~ US$1
HERLHEE IESH

The Davis Investment Limited* Hong Kong HK$10,000 80.00 Property holding
L 10,000% 7 BENE

The Emperor Hotel Limited ~ Hong Kong HKS1 80.00 Provision of hotel and

HERRBERRAR &# 1E7x catering services
REEE KRB SRS

The Unit Serviced Hong Kong HKS2 80.00 Provision of leasing

Apartments Limited &# 2B apartments

RUBAERE

Tin Hou Macau MOP25,000 100.00 Provision of agency services

x5 el 25,0008 7T for gaming operation

REBEEBZPNRE

Vital Spring Holdings Limited ~ British Virgin Islands ~ USS1
HERLHE IESH

- Investment holding
REERk

*

For identification purpose only. BRI

A This subsidiary was disposed via the disposal of Bausman Group ZM B AT R EE2025%F3831H 1
during the year ended 31 March 2025 (see note 23). FEERNBEBAHEBausmanEEEH
& (RM5E23) ©

>

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company KREARESZRR  LRYNEE
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, ARAERXENEEFTTER
principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To BIRANFIMBAR - KAFES
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion BATNHHEMNB AR ZFES
of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of TREARTTR.

excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries of the Company issued any K2025%3H31H K202453H831
debt securities as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024. Eéﬂiﬁ’%ﬁ Bt 8 2 B R A B AT (R A

H17 5 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &E2025%#3431H 1L FE

38.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38.MfiB 2 B:¥18 @
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries (b)BEBEKIEIERRE R AIIE

that have material non-controlling EEMBARZHE
interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TREVEBEARIFERER
subsidiaries of the Company that have material non- TABEEZEMB AT ZFH1E !

controlling interests:

Luck United* British Virgin Islands (59,191) 2,020 760,715 819,906
EBRELHS

Individually immaterial (28) (74) (477) (449)
subsidiary with non-
controlling interests

BRFEREREERED
HIEAR
(59,219) 760,238 819,457
Representing Luck United and its subsidiaries excluding its * fFRLuck UnitedREKMIBAE > &
subsidiary with non-controlling interests. BREEESFEREZNRE A

EIR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFaMPERRMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

38.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38.Mfi B 2 F:¥18 @
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries (b)EBEERIEZERERAIIE

that have material non-controlling 2EMBARZHER @
interests (continued)
Luck United* Luck United*

Current assets MEEE 630,367 740,191
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,567,596 3,612,934
Current liabilities mENAaE (270,339) (159,940)
Non-current liabilities FEREBARE (124,523) (94,103)
Equity attributable to owners RATEE ANEL#ED
of the Company 3,042,863 3,279,625
Non-controlling interests of Luck United Z JEFERG # 25
Luck United 760,715 819,906
Non-controlling interests of Luck UnitedftB AT Z
Luck United’s subsidiary JEERR (477) (449)
Revenue WA 773,777 725,622
Costs, expenses, other gains and BU A ~ B2 ~ HAthizm &
losses, and taxation BEURIRE (1,069,758) (715,595)
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive £ (§518) &f R2E FIx)
(expense) income for the year W en 48 EE (295,981) 10,027
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive FE{LERE (§518) BF K&
(expense) income for the year 2m BA%) 4% .
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KABHEEA (236,762) 8,081
Non-controlling interests of Luck UnitedZ JE¥E R
Luck United = (59,191) 2,020
Non-controlling interests of Luck UnitedftBAE Z
Luck United’s subsidiary JEERG R T (28) (74)
(295,981) 10,027
Net cash from operating activities KEKE TS FEE 127,033 116,995
Net cash (used in) from investing (BR) REREEZEZ
activities REFEE (116,378) 36,409
Net cash used in financing activities BRREEBZIRE R (1,034) (1,028)
Net cash inflow FHRERA 9,621 152,376
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R M IRRIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254#3531 HIEFEZE

39.EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 39.(R&HRi&E 1A

On 9 June 2025, the Group received a notice from SJM in R2025F6 9B A EEZE RRIA
relation to its decision not to continue the operation of the 0 - 15 7R IR B A £ B 7 FE RO AR 75 178 & S
gaming area located at Grand Emperor Hotel following the 2025F12A31HEWE  BIRREF B
expiry of the service agreements between the Group and BELCEMNARREBENEEE
SJM on 31 December 2025. Details of the discontinuation of EMTBBAKEBX e RRFEHE
operation of the gaming area and the service agreements NEBEHEN A AT HEA20228F128
were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 30H+2023F2821H2024%1825H
30 December 2022, 21 February 2023, 25 January 2024 and 9 K2025F6B9AMASE

June 2025.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &tE2025%#3431H 1L FE

RESULTS £

Revenue A 836,955 789,262 291,119 415,894 301,855
(Loss) profit before PRIRAT (B548) T
taxation PRENEEN 35410 (181,211)  (724,885)  (304,327)
Taxation credit TR IE o] 33 31,370 27,421 53,214 80,640 79,878
(Loss) profit for the year FE (§518) i@ #Fl (248,078) 62,831 (127,997) (644,245) (224,449)
(Loss) profit for the year FE{LEEE (E518)
attributable to: A
Owners of the KATEBA
Company (188,859) 60,885 (98,192) (528,317) (177,576)
Non-controlling JEIERG R
interests (59,219) 1,946 (29,805) (115,928) (46,873)

(248,078) 62,831  (127,997)  (644,245)  (224,449)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SEREHE

Total assets mEE CTOEITOPE 4,862,384 4,837,715 5,030,423 5,868,867
Total liabilities maeE CLERER)]  (290,230) (328,392)  (388,692)  (471,612)

el 4,572,154 4,509,323 4,641,731 5,397,255

Total equity attributable FE{G4R# :

to:
Owners of the EKRABHEAA

Company Penl Bl 37752697 3,691,812 3,794,415 4,433,694
Non-controlling JEIERG R

interests 760,238 819,457 817,511 847,316 963,561

el Pl 4,572,154 4,509,323 4,641,731 5,397,255
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
v ES L

At 31 March 2025 F$20254#3831H

Particulars of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 March

2025 are as follows:

COMPLETED INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Shops of Ground Floor of Grand Emperor
Hotel, Macau
TR P 3 2 1R S8 5 3t T [ &R

8th Floor of Grand Emperor Hotel, Macau
TR P 3 2 4R %R [E QIS

10th Floor of Grand Emperor Hotel, Macau
TR EIREEIE101E

Portion of Ground Floor and the whole of
1st Floor of Inn Hotel, Macau
RFRMHE T D RIEEE

17 Yik Yam Street, Happy Valley,
Hong Kong
EEBEMZEEELTR

46-48 Morrison Hill Road, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong
EARAEFEEELEA6-485%

20-26 Old Bailey Street, Mid-Levels,
Hong Kong
BEFLEBFEH20-269%

Commercial

[EES
Commercial
[EES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[EES

Shops/Residential
5 EE

Shops/Residential
(58 FE

Residential
F=E
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